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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
REC GROUP

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 (NOK IN THOUSAND) Notes 2006 2005 2004

Revenues 5 4 334 072 2 453 916 1 270 192

Cost of materials -806 643 -620 903 -513 436

Changes in inventories 66 892 4 477 -60 909

Employee benefit expenses 23 -667 950 -409 854 -261 996

Other operating expenses 22 -961 778 -597 455 -292 791

EBITDA 1 964 593 830 181 141 060

Depreciation 6 -333 877 -201 353 -91 228

Amortization 7 -44 481 -13 648 -3 415

Impairment 6 -11 807 -13 733 -6 593

EBIT 1 574 428 601 447 39 824

Share of loss of associates 8 -18 330 -7 052 -1 578

Financial income 24 164 173 6 261 1 440

Financial expenses 24 -148 500 -145 572 -52 789

Net currency gains/losses 24 -50 232 68 036 -1 372

Net gains derivatives 24 18 640 0 0

Fair value & foreign exchange effect on convertible loans 24 -796 219 -493 037 6 123

Net Financial Items -830 468 -571 364 -48 176

Profit/loss before tax 743 960 30 083 -8 352

Income tax expense/benefit 18 -285 630 -26 160 2 263

Profit/loss for the year 458 330 3 923 -6 089

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity holders of the company during the year (in NOK per share)

- basic 25 1.03 0.01 -0.02

- diluted 25 1.03 0.01 -0.02

EBITDA is earnings before net financial items, income taxes, depreciation, amortization and impairment.

EBIT is earnings before net financial items and income taxes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF RECOGNIZED
INCOME AND EXPENSE
REC GROUP

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 (NOK IN THOUSAND)

Translation
differences Tax Pension

Cash flow
hedge

Acqui-
sition

Change in
accounting

principle
Profit/

loss Total

Accumulated at January 1, 2005 4 631 -2 889 0 0 0 -6 089 -8 343

Currency translation differences 31 819 0 0 0 0 0 0 31 819

Actuarial gain/loss on defined benefit
pension schemes 0 8 813 -31 475 0 0 0 0 -22 662

Effect of ASiMI/SGS acquisition 0 0 0 0 134 117 0 0 134 117

Implementation IAS 39 - convertible
loans 0 13 977 0 0 0 -49 918 0 -35 941

Profit for the year 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 923 3 923

Total changes in the year 31 819 22 790 -31 475 0 134 117 -49 918 3 923 111 256

Accumulated at December 31, 2005 31 823 23 421 -34 364 0 134 117 -49 918 -2 166 102 913

Accumulated at January 1, 2006 31 823 23 421 -34 364 0 134 117 -49 918 -2 166 102 913

Currency translation differences -40 236 540 0 0 0 0 0 -39 696

Actuarial gain/loss on defined benefit
pension schemes 0 406 9 807 0 0 0 0 10 213

Effect of EverQ acquisition 0 0 0 0 76 817 0 0 76 817

Cash flow hedges:

- valuation gains/losses taken to equity 0 47 363 0 -169 177 0 0 0 -121814

- transferred to profit/loss for the year* 0 -13 445 0 48 019 0 0 0 34 574

Profit for the year 0 0 0 0 0 0 458 330 458 330

Total changes in the year -40 236 34 864 9 807 -121 158 76 817 0 458 330 418 424

Accumulated at December 31, 2006 - 8 413 58 285 -24 557 -121 158 210 934 -49 918 456 164 521 337

* Cash flow hedge - transferred to profit/loss before tax for the year affected the following line items in the income statement

(NOK in thousand):

2006 2005

Revenues -37 563 0

Cost of materials -10 456 0

Total -48 019 0

Accumulated recognized income and expense has been set to be zero at transition to IFRS at January 1, 2004.

A
CC
O
U
N
TS
R
EC
G
R
O
U
P



R
EC
A
N
N
U
A
L
R
EP
O
R
T

2
0
0
6

62

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
REC GROUP

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 (NOK IN THOUSAND) Notes 2006 2005 2004

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit/loss before tax 743 960 30 083 -8 352

Taxes paid -182 667 0 0

Depreciation, amortization and impairment 390 165 228 734 101 236

Associated companies 18 330 7 052 1 578

Fair value/foreign exchange effect on convertible loan 796 219 493 037 -6 123

Changes in trade receivable and prepayments from customers -531 813 -407 507 -59 174

Changes in inventories -140 335 -1 854 67 285

Changes in trade payable and prepaid expenses 281 654 208 217 82 999

Other items 3 344 -1 775 18 722

Net cash flow from operating activities 1 378 857 555 987 198 171

Cash flow from investing activities

Cash payments of shares (incl. associates) and finance receivables -15 690 -114 510 -22 141

Proceeds from finance receivables 25 703 0 0

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets 35 672 1 905 0

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -1 534 487 -426 434 -202 280

Cash payments on purchase of subsidiaries and joint ventures, net of
cash purchased 9, 30 -144 923 -1 734 686 0

Net cash flow from investing activities -1 633 725 -2 273 725 -224 421

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of shares, net of related costs paid 6 777 671 34 000 308 874

Proceeds from issuance of convertible bond 0 913 080 0

Repayment of borrowings -52 284 -906 301 0

Net change in current loans 0 28 982 41 600

Proceeds from borrowings 296 907 1 906 451 23 490

Net cash flow from financing activities 7 022 294 1 976 212 373 964

Effect on cash and cash equivalents of changes in
foreign exchange rates -17 498 10 697 378

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 6 749 928 269 171 348 092

Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 667 611 398 440 50 348

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 7 417 539 667 611 398 440

The difference between net cash proceeds from issuance of shares and the amount in the equity note 15 is tax effect on the costs with no cash effect in 2006.
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Renewable Energy Corporation ASA (the Company) and its subsidiaries (together the REC Group) has a significant presence in the
international solar energy industry. The areas of operation are principally the development and sale of products related to the
photovoltaic (PV) industry. The Company is a limited company incorporated and domiciled in Norway. The address of its registered
office is Veritasveien 14, Høvik.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on March 21, 2007.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The financial statements are presented in NOK, rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated. The consolidated
financial statements of the REC Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
as adopted by the EU and the Norwegian Accounting Act. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of derivative instruments at fair value. The preparation of financial
statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgment in the process of applying the the REC Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 4.

2.2 CONSOLIDATION
(a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the REC Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies, generally
requiring a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights or options
that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the REC Group controls another entity. Sub-
sidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the REC Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the REC Group. The cost of an acqui-
sition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date
of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of
any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of REC Group’s share of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill (see note 2.7). If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsid-
iary acquired, the difference is recognized directly in the income statement. Step acquisitions: both an increase in ownership of a
jointly controlled entity that becomes a subsidiary and an increase in ownership in a subsidiary company are accounted for in
accordance with the requirements of IFRS 3 Business Combinations with goodwill being recognized at each step of the acquisition
when applicable.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealized
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

(b) Jointly controlled entities
The REC Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for by proportionate consolidation. Accordingly, the REC
Group combines its share of the jointly controlled entities’ individual income and expenses, assets and liabilities and cash flows on
a line-by-line basis with similar items in the REC Group’s financial statements. Unrealized gains on transactions between the REC
Group and its jointly controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of REC Group’s interest in the entities. Unrealized losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. An increase in ownership of a
shareholding that becomes a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 3 Business
Combinations with goodwill being recognized at each step of the acquisition when applicable (see note 2.7).

(c) Associates
Associates are entities over which the REC Group has significant influence but not control or joint control, generally encompass-
ing a shareholding of between 20 percent and 50 percent of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for by the
equity method of accounting and are initially recognized at cost (see note 2.7). The REC Group’s share of its associates’ post-
investment profits or losses is recognized in the income statement. The cumulative post-investment movements are adjusted

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REC GROUP

A
CC
O
U
N
TS
R
EC
G
R
O
U
P



R
EC
A
N
N
U
A
L
R
EP
O
R
T

2
0
0
6

65

against the carrying amount of the investment. When the REC Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its inter-
est in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the REC Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. Unrealized gains on transactions between the REC Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the REC Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealized losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

2.3 SEGMENT REPORTING
A business segment is a distinguishable component of the REC Group that is engaged in providing products that are subject to
risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments; this also corresponds to the internal management
reporting in the REC Group. A geographical segment breakdown is based on the REC Group’s major markets and site locations (see
note 5).

2.4 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the REC Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are pre-
sented in NOK which is the parent company’s functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the balance sheet date exchange
rates. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement or the translation of monetary assets and liabilities are
recognized in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges, qualifying net investment
hedges or as a part of a net investment.

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the REC Group entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
(i) Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate;
(ii) Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates; and
(iii) All resulting exchange differences from translation are recognized as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities, including monetary
items that are regarded as a part of the net investment, and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are included in shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recog-
nized in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale. The REC Group did not at December 31, 2006 or 2005 hold any
borrowings or other currency instruments accounted for as net investments hedges.

2.5 CURRENT/NON-CURRENT
An asset/liability is classified as current when it is expected/due to be realized or settled within twelve months after the balance
sheet date. All derivatives that are not designated and effective as hedging instruments are accounted for as “held for trading”
and classified as current assets/liabilities. Further, derivatives that hedge purchase and sale of goods are classified as current
assets/liabilities.

2.6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land and buildings primarily consist of operating plants and offices. All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and unreversed impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly attribut-
able to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the REC Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs are charged to the income statement during the financial pe-
riod in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalized during the
period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on
other assets is calculated using the straight-line method, to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The assets’
residual values, if any, depreciation method and useful lives are reviewed at least annually and related depreciation rates are
adjusted prospectively. Depreciation commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

2.7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(a) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the REC Group’s share of the net identifiable
assets of the acquired subsidiary/associate/jointly controlled entity at the date of acquisition. Goodwill related to associates is
included in the carrying value of investments in associates. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
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(b) Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets that have a definite useful life are carried at historical cost less accumulated amortization and unreversed
impairment losses. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of other intangible assets over
their estimated useful lives. Amortization commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. The REC Group has no
intangible asset with indefinite lives other than goodwill. The assets’ residual values, if any, amortization method and useful lives
are reviewed at least annually and related amortization rates are adjusted prospectively.

(c) Research and development
Research expenditures are recognized as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating to the design,
construction and testing of a chosen alternative for new or improved materials, devices, products, processes or systems) are
capitalized as intangible assets when it is probable that the project will be successful considering its commercial and technologi-
cal feasibility, and costs can be measured reliably. Other development expenditures are recognized as an expense as incurred.
Development costs previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset in subsequent periods. Development costs
with a finite useful life that have been capitalized are amortized from the time the assets are ready for their intended use, which
normally is at commencement of the commercial use.

2.8 IMPAIRMENT AND DERECOGNITION OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS AND CASH GENERATING UNITS
Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested at least an-
nually for impairment. Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized in a sepa-
rate line item as a part of earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) in the income statement for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are sepa-
rately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Goodwill is allocated to individual or groups of cash-generating units for
the purpose of impairment testing. Currently, each of those individual or groups of cash-generating units represents the REC
Group’s investment determined by each operating company except for REC Silicon where goodwill is allocated to the primary
reporting segment. Assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.

Losses on derecognition include assets that are disposed of and assets with no foreseeable future economic benefits. Gains and
losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are reported in a separate line in the income
statement as a part of EBIT. When applicable, gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of good-
will relating to the disposed entity. Losses due to assets assessed as having no future economic benefits are reported as an
impairment loss.

2.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The REC Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: held for trading (derivatives, except for derivatives that
are designated and effective hedging instruments), loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets and hedging instru-
ments. Financial liabilities are held for trading (derivatives, except for derivatives that are designated and effective hedging in-
struments), hedging instruments or recognized at amortized cost. The classification depends on the purpose for which the finan-
cial assets and liabilities were acquired/incurred. Management determines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities
at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation when appropriate.

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading comprises primarily derivatives that are not designated and effective as hedges,
including the ineffective portion of a qualifying hedging instrument.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market.

Available-for-sale financial assets are primarily shares owned less than 20 percent. At December 31, 2006, REC had insignifi-
cant available-for-sale financial assets.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs except for derivatives. Financial assets
are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or the REC Group has transferred sub-
stantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Available for-sale financial assets and financial assets held for trading are subse-
quently carried at fair value, unless fair value cannot be reliably measured in which case they are measured at cost. Loans and
receivables are carried at amortized cost which for current items approximates historical cost.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities held for trading are included in the income
statement as part of financial items.
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2.10 ACCOUNTING FOR DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The REC Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge a portion of its risks associated with interest rate and foreign cur-
rency fluctuations. Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are sub-
sequently remeasured at their fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when
the fair value is negative, as long as the REC Group has no intention or ability to settle the contracts net. The method of recogniz-
ing the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated and qualifies as a hedging instrument, and if so, the
nature of the item being hedged. Derivatives are categorized as held for trading unless they are designated and qualify as hedg-
ing instruments.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other non-financial host contracts are treated as separate derivatives
when their risk and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not carried at fair
value with gains or losses reported in profit or loss. Currently, for the REC Group this is relevant for currency derivatives embed-
ded in committed purchase or sales contracts in which the currency in the contract is not the functional currency of one of the
parties to the contract.

Starting during 2006 the REC Group has designated certain derivative financial instruments to hedge a portion of its risks as-
sociated with foreign currency fluctuations related to highly probable future purchase or sales transaction and applied hedge
accounting. At the inception of a hedge relationship, the REC Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship
to which the REC Group wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and the strategy for undertaking
the hedge. The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of
the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to change
in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in
achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have
been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated.

At year-end 2006, REC has only applied cash flow hedges to hedge highly probable transactions such as the purchase and sale
of goods in a foreign currency. A cash flow hedge is a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or
loss. The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized directly in equity, while the ineffective por-
tion is recognized in profit or loss. Amounts taken to equity are transferred to profit or loss when the hedged transaction affects
profit or loss, such as when a forecast sale or purchase occurs. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or
liability, the amounts taken to equity are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognized in equity are transferred to profit or
loss. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as
a hedge is revoked, amounts previously recognized in equity remain in equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. If the re-
lated transaction is not expected to occur, the amount is taken to profit or loss.

2.11 INVENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost for inventory with different nature or use is determined
using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) or average cost method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw mate-
rials, direct labor, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). Net realizable value
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. The REC Group is inte-
grated in the value chain, and REC entities sell goods to other REC entities. Consequently, finished goods for one REC entity be-
come raw materials or work in progress for another REC entity. The classification by the separate entities is also used in the
classification in REC’s consolidated accounts.

2.12 TRADE RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost, less provisions for impair-
ment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is recognized in the income statement and is established when there is
objective evidence that the REC Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.
Significant financial difficulty of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization, and de-
fault or delinquency in payments, are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired.

2.13 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and demand deposits at banks and money market funds.

2.14 SHARE CAPITAL
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
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2.15 BORROWINGS

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amor-
tized cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the income
statement over the period the borrowings are outstanding using the effective interest method. The REC group had two convertible
bonds that were denominated in a foreign currency. Following IFRIC guidance (IFRIC Update April 2005), a foreign currency con-
vertible bond is not a compound financial instrument and is classified wholly as a liability in the financial statements. Following IAS
39 Financial Instruments, by definition, foreign currency denominated convertible debt contains an embedded derivative in rela-
tion to the conversion option, and must be remeasured to market at each reporting date with the change in fair value recognized
to profit or loss. All of the bonds were converted to equity during 2006 at the fair values at time of conversion (see note 27).

2.16 INCOME TAX
Income tax expense represents the total of the tax currently payable (current tax) and the change in deferred tax. The current tax
is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax as reported in the income statement be-
cause it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years (temporary differences) and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary dif-
ferences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial state-
ments. However, if the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit nor loss, it is not recog-
nized. For the REC Group this is relevant for some government grants.

Current and deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted at the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the related tax asset is realized or the tax liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are
recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilized. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the REC Group intends to settle its current tax assets and current tax liabilities on a net basis.

Deferred tax is provided on undistributed earnings in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities to the extent that the
future dividend is taxable, except where the timing of any dividend is controlled by the REC Group and it is probable that the
dividend will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

2.17 PROVISIONS
Provisions for environmental restoration, asset retirement obligations, restructuring costs, long-term bonuses, product warran-
ties and legal claims are recognized when: the REC Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination penalties and employee termination payments. Provisions are not recog-
nized for future operating losses. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. Assessment of fair value and
likelihood is made at each reporting date. Provisions are measured at the management’s best estimate of the expenditures ex-
pected to be required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date, and are discounted to present value where the effect is
material.

2.18 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
(a) Pension/post retirement obligations
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement,
usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. The liability recognized in the balance
sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date
less the fair value of plan assets.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to
equity via the Statement of Recognized Income and Expense in the period in which they arise.

Gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan are recognized when the curtailment or settlement
occurs. A curtailment occurs when the Group either is demonstrably committed to make a material reduction in the number of
employees covered by a plan; or amends the terms of a defined benefit plan such that a material element of future service by
current employees will no longer qualify for benefits, or will qualify only for reduced benefits.

For defined contribution plans, the REC Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense when they are due. When sufficient information is not available to use
defined benefit accounting for a multi-employer plan that is a defined benefit plan, the plan is accounted for as if it were a defined
contribution plan.
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(b) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The REC Group recognizes termination benefits when it is demon-
strably committed to either: terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan; or providing
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.

2.19 REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenues are primarily generated from sale of goods: Polysilicon, Silane gas, Wafers, Ingots, Cells and Modules.

Revenue comprises the fair value for the sale of goods and services, net of value-added tax, rebates, discounts and expected
returns.

Revenues are normally reported gross with a separate recording of expenses to vendors of products or services. Revenue is rec-
ognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the price is
fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. Delivery is normally according to terms in the relevant contracts.
When REC products are sold with a right of return for damaged goods, experience is used to estimate and provide for such returns
at the time of sale.

Some products, primarily modules, are sold with product warranties. The expected warranty amounts are recognized as an
expense at the time of sale, and are adjusted for subsequent changes in estimates or actual outcomes.

2.20 INTEREST AND DIVIDEND INCOME
Interest income is accrued on a time basis. Dividend income from investments is recognized when the shareholders’ rights to
receive payment have been established, normally on the declaration date.

2.21 LEASES
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of owner-
ship to the lessee. Other leases are classified as operating leases. The evaluation is based on the substance of the transaction.

According to IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease the REC Group may enter into an arrangement that
does not take the legal form of a lease but conveys a right to use an asset in return for a payment or series of payments. Deter-
mining whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease shall be based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an as-
sessment of whether: (a) fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset; and (b) the arrangement
conveys a right to use the asset.

Assets held under finance leases are recognized as assets of the Group at their fair values at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life
of the asset or the lease term. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as an interest-bearing
liability. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income state-
ment on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.22 DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION
Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are recognized as a liability in the REC Group’s financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.

2.23 ADJUSTMENTS AND RECLASSIFICATIONS
The balance sheet figures at December 31, 2005, has been adjusted, primarily due to finalization of the purchase price allocation
(PPA) for the acquisition of ASiMI and SGS. During 2006, the PPA was finalized, and according to IFRS 3 Business Combinations
the balance sheet figures at December 31, 2005 were adjusted. Total assets increased by approximately NOK 260 million, pri-
marily due to recognition of intangible assets and goodwill. Liabilities increase primarily due to recognition of negative value of a
delivery contract and deferred tax liabilities. Equity decreased by NOK 26 million due to the revaluation of net assets for the 70
percent of SGS that REC owned prior to the business combination. The net effect on income of the final PPA for the period August
1, 2005 to July 1, 2006 was insignificant, and was recognized in one line item in the income statement for 2006. See note 30 for
further information.

2.24 NEW STANDARDS ETC.
(a) Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards implemented at January 1, 2006:
IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease (effective from January 1, 2006). IFRIC 4 requires that the deter-
mination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease should be based on the substance of the arrangement. It requires an
assessment of whether: (a) fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets (the asset); and (b)
the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. Management considered IFRIC 4 and concluded that it had no effect for the REC
Group at January 1, 2006. However, it is relevant to the REC Group’s operations for one contract with effect from 2006.
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IAS 39 (amendment), Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup transactions (effective from January 1, 2006). The
amendment allows the foreign currency risk of a highly probable forecast intragroup transaction to qualify as a hedged item in
the consolidated financial statements, provided that: (a) the transaction is denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity entering into that transaction; and (b) the foreign currency risk will affect consolidated profit or loss. Man-
agement considered this amendment and concluded that the amendment had no effect for the REC Group at January 1, 2006.
During 2006 REC Group started to account for some cash flow hedges according to IAS 39, including some forecast intragroup
transactions.

IAS 39 (amendment), The fair value option (effective from January 1, 2006). This amendment changes the definition of financial
instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss and restricts the ability to designate financial instruments as part of this
category. Management have considered this amendment and concluded that the amendment had no effect for the REC Group at
January 1, 2006.

IAS 39 AND IFRS 4 (amendment), Financial guarantee contracts (effective from January 1, 2006). This amendment requires is-
sued financial guarantees to be initially recognized at their fair value and subsequently measured at the higher of (i) the unam-
ortized balance of the related fees received and deferred, and (ii) the expenditure required to settle the commitment at the bal-
ance sheet date. Management considered this amendment and concluded that the amendment had no effect for the REC Group
at January 1, 2006.

(b) Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not effective at December 31, 2006:
Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for the
REC Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2007. The Group has not early adopted these. Those that may
affect the REC Group’s results in the future are:

IFRS 7 Financial instruments: disclosures and a complementary amendment to IAS 1, presentation of financial statements –
capital disclosures (effective from January 1, 2007). IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial
instruments. It requires the disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial
instruments, including specified minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including sensitivity analysis
to market risk. It replaces IAS 30, Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions, and disclosure
requirements in IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation. The amendment to IAS 1 introduces disclosures about
the level of an entity’s capital and how it manages capital. The REC Group has not assessed the impact of IFRS 7 and the amend-
ment to IAS 1. The REC Group will apply IFRS 7 and the amendment to IAS 1 from annual periods beginning January 1, 2007.

IFRS 8 Operating segments (effective from January 1, 2009, early adoption possible). IFRS 8 requires an entity to adopt the
‘management approach’ to reporting on the financial performance of its operating segments. Generally, the information to be
reported would be what management uses internally for evaluating segment performance and deciding how to allocate resourc-
es to operating segments. Such information may be different from what is used to prepare the income statement and balance
sheet. The proposals would therefore require explanations of the basis on which the segment information is prepared and recon-
ciliations to the amounts recognized in the income statement and balance sheet. The REC Group has not concluded on the poten-
tial impact of IFRS 8 or whether the REC Group will early implement IFRS 8.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS
The REC Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest-rate
risk. The REC Group’s overall risk management policy focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize
potential adverse effects on the REC Group’s financial performance. The REC Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge
exposures arising from operational, financing and investment activities in accordance with the finance policy.

(a) Currency risk
At the beginning of 2006, the REC Group implemented a revised finance policy in connection with the refinancing of the REC
Group. At March 31, financing was transferred from the subsidiary level to the REC Group level to enable a centralized manage-
ment of financial risks.

The REC Group operates internationally and is exposed to currency risk, primarily to fluctuations in USD and EUR against NOK,
arising from commercial transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency, recognized assets and liabilities,
and net investments in foreign operations.A
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To manage currency risk arising from commercial transactions, REC entities use forward contracts, including flexible forward
contracts and participating forward contracts. The REC subsidiaries manage their currency risk by doing foreign exchange con-
tracts with REC ASA. REC ASA manages the currency risk on an overall Group level and enters into external foreign exchange
contracts with banks. In 2006, hedge accounting according to IAS 39 Financial Instruments was used to cash flow hedge certain
revenues and expenses of REC Wafer. Some currency hedging is also performed in other REC companies without hedge account-
ing. The REC Group’s general policy is to cover between 80 percent and 100 percent of net transaction currency exposure on a
rolling 12 month basis. The policy defines coverage of the net exposure for a 48 month period, with gradually declining cover-
age.

The REC Group is exposed to currency risk from recognized assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the entities
functional currencies, including group internal balances. In addition, REC has investments in foreign operations, whose net assets
are exposed to currency translation risk. These exposures are hedged only to a limited extent.

(b) Credit risk
The REC Group has some concentrations of credit risk as it has a few large customers. Policies are in place to ensure that sales of
products are only made to customers with an appropriate credit history in combination with requirements for various payment
guarantees or prepayments. The REC Group has experienced limited losses on receivables. Management’s opinion is that the REC
Group has no significant concentration of credit risk.

Intra group balances are eliminated on consolidation of subsidiaries. The REC Group proportionally consolidates 33.33 percent of
EverQ, and consequently REC has some credit exposure related to provided loans and guarantees.

Derivative counterparties and cash transactions are limited to high-credit-quality financial institutions.

(c) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents and having availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the REC
Group aims to maintain a high degree of financial flexibility by keeping sufficient cash and cash equivalents or committed credit
lines available.

(d) Interest rate risk
Changes in market interest rates affect the fair value of assets and liabilities or the variability in cash payments. The REC Group
is exposed to interest rate risk through funding and cash management activities. Interest bearing assets carry variable interest.
Subsequent to the equity increase in May 2006, the REC Group has held interest-bearing assets primarily exposed to changes in
NOK interest rates (see note 17 for interest rate sensitivity). Interest income and interest expense in the income statement, as well
as interest payments, are influenced by interest rate changes.

When in a net debt position, the REC Group policy is set to balance interest rate risk through a combination of variable and fixed
interest rate borrowings. The group then aims to ensure that at least 25 percent of borrowings are fixed, and 25 percent of bor-
rowings are floating, with the remainder being set as appropriate. Interest rate swaps may be utilized, where necessary, to
achieve the desired balance.

3.2 FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION
In 2005 and 2006, profit was significantly negatively affected by non-cash effects from changes in the fair value assessment and
foreign exchange effects of two convertible loans. During 2006, these loans were converted to equity (see note 27).

The fair value of foreign exchange derivatives (see note 11) is based on quoted market prices at the reporting dates. The fair
value calculations were performed by independent banks.

At December 31, 2006, the carrying amounts of the REC Group’s financial assets and liabilities (excluding investments in associ-
ates, jointly controlled entities and subsidiaries) are assumed to approximate their fair values.

The REC Group had at December 31, 2006 insignificant financial assets available for sale.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

4.1 CRITICAL JUDGMENTS IN APPLYING THE ENTITY’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES
In the process of applying the entity’s above described accounting policies, management’s judgments having the most significant
effect on amounts recognized in the financial statements are discussed below and in the relevant notes.

(a) Deferred tax on undistributed earnings
According to current regulations and tax treaty, withholding tax of 15 percent would apply on any dividends paid by the REC
Group’s operations in the USA to the parent company in Norway. REC ASA controls the distribution of future dividends from the
USA operations, and has determined that those profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future. Consequently, REC ASA
has not recognized a deferred tax liability on these undistributed earnings. If, at a later point in time this evaluation changes or
dividends are distributed under the current regulations and tax treaty, additional tax expenses will be recognized in the relevant
period.

(b) Functional currencies
The REC Group’s presentation currency and the parent company’s (REC ASA’s) functional currency is Norwegian Krone. The REC
Group’s management evaluated the functional currency of the different REC entities. The functional currency for most REC enti-
ties corresponds to the currency of the countries in which they operate. However, for the Norwegian operations the facts and
circumstances are mixed and the conclusion is not obvious, especially because revenues (wafers and cells) and expenses cur-
rently are in NOK, Euro and US Dollar. Deliveries are made to several countries, including Norway and other countries in Europe
and Asia as well as to the USA. Currently; pricing is determined by a significant demand for products in several markets and from
government incentives. Government incentives and the relative attractiveness of selling to different countries change over time.
Europe is currently a large market, but countries in Europe have different government incentives and consequently demand and
prices. Indications on sales prices and costs are mixed. Norwegian Krone is the currency in which funds from financing activities
(i.e. issuing debt and equity instruments) primarily are generated and in which receipts from operating activities are usually
retained for these entities.

Functional currency affects the reporting of currency gains and losses and exchange differences as well as hedging strategies and
effects. The evaluation of what is the functional currency for the separate entities may change over time if there are relevant and
significant changes in facts or circumstances. A change in functional currency must be made prospectively from the date of the
change.

(c) Development expenditures
The REC Group conducts numerous research and development activities and projects. Some costs incurred in the development
phase of an intangible asset may be capitalized if the definition, recognition and criteria for capitalizing development are fulfilled.
Costs that are expensed cannot be capitalized at a later point in time. Consequently, there may be development of intangible as-
sets that cannot be capitalized because the company cannot demonstrate that all requirements are fulfilled at the relevant points
in time. At year-end 2006, most development costs have been expensed, except development costs relating to the Fluidized Bed
Reactor (FBR) project in REC Silicon subsequent to the decision in 2006 to build a new plant utilizing the FBR technology (see note 7).

(d) Business combinations – pre-existing contractual arrangements
At the time of the acquisition of ASiMI and SGS, REC had an pre-existing customer relationship with the acquired companies.
There is no clear guidance on how a pre-existing customer relationship should be accounted for in a business combination. IFRS
3 Business Combinations requires that all assets and liabilities are valued on a market participant basis. This means that the
basis of the valuation is the value to any acquirer (market-participant), and should not take into account any specific assumptions
relating to the actual buyer (entity-specific). REC has recognized the pre-existing customer relationship as an intangible asset
(original fair valued at approximately NOK 95 million) and amortize over the estimated remaining customer relationship period
(10 – 16 years, see note 7). The REC Group has determined that there was no settlement gain or loss on the effective settlement
of the pre-existing relationship.

(e) Lease
IFRIC 4 requires that the determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease should be based on the substance of the
arrangement. If an arrangement contains a lease, the requirements of IAS 17 shall apply to the lease element of the arrangement.
Other elements of the arrangement not within the scope of IAS 17 shall be accounted for in accordance with other Standards.

Some arrangements in which REC is a party include payments for the right to use the assets and payments for other elements in
the arrangement (e.g. for services and the cost of inputs). The fair value of the assets, the lease and other elements in the
arrangement may not be available for the REC Group, and the REC Group has to make its best estimate of these values. This may
also affect the conclusion if the arrangement is a finance or operating lease.
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At December 31, 2006 this especially is the case for an arrangement that was entered into at the end of the year. The assets in
the arrangement have not been constructed yet and no amounts are consequently recognized in the balance sheet at year-end.
For the 2006 note disclosures the future minimum payments for the lease and other elements in the arrangement has been
reported as part of purchase commitments (see note 29).

4.2 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY – CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, as well as the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the report-
ing period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Certain amounts included in or affecting the REC Group’s financial
statements and related disclosure must be estimated, requiring management to make assumptions with respect to values or
conditions which cannot be known with certainty at the time the financial statements are prepared. A ‘‘critical accounting esti-
mate’’ is one which is both important to the portrayal of the company’s financial condition and results and requires management
to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain, and which are subjective or complex. Management
evaluates such estimates on an ongoing basis, based upon historical results and experience, consultation with experts, utilizing
trends and other methods considered reasonable in the particular circumstances, as well as forecasts as to how these might
change in the future.

(a) Impairment
The REC Group tests annually whether goodwill or intangible assets for which amortization has not started, have suffered any
impairment. Property, plant and equipment, other intangible and financial assets are tested for impairment when circumstances
indicate there may be a potential impairment. Factors management considers important and which could trigger an impairment
review include; significant fall in market values; a significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating
results; significant changes in the use of the assets or the strategy for the overall business, including assets that are decided to
be phased out or replaced and assets that are damaged or taken out of use; significant negative industry or economic trends; and
significant cost overruns in the development of assets.

The recoverable amounts of assets and cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates including estimates of future performance, revenue generating capacity of the assets,
assumptions of the future market conditions and the success in development and marketing of new products and services.
Changes in circumstances and in management’s evaluations and assumptions may give rise to impairment losses in the relevant
periods. For the period presented, no significant impairments have been recognized (see notes 6, 7 and 8).

(b) Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization are based on management estimates of the future useful lives of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets. Estimates may change due to technological developments, competition, changes in market conditions,
expectations for replacements or disposal of assets and other factors and may result in changes in the estimated useful lives and
in amortization or depreciation charges. Technological developments are difficult to predict and the REC Group’s views on the
trends and pace of development may change over time. Management periodically reviews the expected future useful lives of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets taking into consideration the factors mentioned above and all other impor-
tant factors. In case of significant changes in estimated useful lives, depreciation and amortization charges are adjusted prospec-
tively. In the case of replacements or disposals any remaining carrying value will be recognized to the income statement, net of
any proceeds receivable.

(c) Business combinations, joint ventures and associated companies
The REC Group is required to allocate the purchase price of acquired companies, including joint ventures and associated compa-
nies, to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. Such valuations require management to
make significant estimates and assumptions. The acquired intangible assets recognized by the REC Group include customer rela-
tionships, order backlog, customer contracts (of which one is recognized as a liability, see note 20), developed technology and
in-process research and development. The significant tangible assets primarily include processing property, plants and equip-
ment. Critical estimates in the evaluations of useful lives for such assets include, but are not limited to; contract periods and
expected developments in technology and markets. Critical estimates in valuing certain assets include, but are not limited to;
future expected net cash flows for customer contracts and hypothetic patent licensing, and replacement costs for in-process
research and development and property, plant and equipment. Management’s estimates of fair value and useful lives are based
upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results
may differ from estimates.

(d) Income taxes
The REC Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining the provision for income
taxes. There are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The REC Group recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
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be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. If the actual final out-
come differs from management’s current estimates, the REC Group will need to increase or decrease the current and deferred tax
liabilities.

(e) Fair value of convertible loans
Up to March 2006, when the major parts of the convertible loans were converted, the shares in REC ASA were not listed and the
fair value of the convertible loans had to be estimated. The change in fair value had a significant impact on REC’s profit for 2005
and 2006 and on equity in 2006 (see notes 15, 24 and 27).

(f) Warranties
In connection with the sale of solar modules by REC ScanModule AB, REC provides a 5 year limited warranty that the product is free
of defects in materials and workmanship, a 10 year limited warranty of 90 percent power output and a 25 year limited warranty of
80 percent of power output of the solar modules. This is customary in the market for solar modules, and the REC Group’s jointly
controlled entity EverQ GmbH also provides warranties. The REC Group believes that the material in the solar modules is capable
of producing a relative steady output for a period of at least 25 years. However, neither the REC Group nor any of its competitors
have a 25-year history. Management’s estimates of warranty provisions takes into consideration, among other things, limited ex-
perience for sales where a third party takes over the warranty liability and comparison to EverQ. A change in the construction
process of the frames that was made during 2006 is also considered. For total sales up to December 31, 2006, a warranty provision
amounting to 1.75 percent of module revenues has been recognized. For future sales, the current estimate of warranty provision
amounts to 1.2 percent of revenues. Management believes that the assumptions are reasonable, but they are inherently uncertain
and unpredictable and, as a result, future estimates and actual results may differ from the current estimates.

(g) Pension costs, pension obligations and pension plan assets
Calculation of pension costs and net pension obligations (the difference between pension obligations and pension plan assets) are
made based on a number of estimates and assumptions. Changes in, and deviations from, estimates and assumptions (actuarial
gains and losses) affect the fair value of net pension liabilities. Changes are recognized in the financial statements with the effect
to equity through the consolidated statement of recognized income and expense. Key assumptions are outlined in note 19.

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The segment information presented is the main components of the REC Group’s business that are evaluated on a regular basis by
management. Financial and operational information are prepared specifically for each segment for the purpose of assessing per-
formance and allocating resources. Financial information is disclosed on the same basis as presented internally.

The REC Group’s primary format for reporting segment information is business segments. The REC Group’s segments are man-
aged separately and each segment represents a strategic business area that offers different products and serves different mar-
kets. The REC Group’s segments are REC Silicon, REC Wafer and REC Solar. In addition, the REC Group reports “Other”.

REC Silicon produces solar grade polysilicon for the photovoltaic industry as well as electronic grade polysilicon and silane gas for
the electronic industry. REC Silicon comprises of the operating companies REC Solar Grade Silicon LLC (SGS) and REC Advanced
Silicon Materials LLC (ASiMI) located in the US. Revenues are based on long term contracts for the electronic industry (primarily
in Asia), while solar grade polysilicon is primarily sold internally to REC Wafer at market prices. During 2005, REC acquired 100
percent of ASiMI and the remaining 30 percent of SGS, see note 30.

REC Wafer comprises of multicrystalline wafer manufacturing in Glomfjord and Herøya (Norway) and monocrystalline ingots at a
separate plant in Glomfjord. The main customers are currently located in Germany and Japan, while a part is sold internally to
REC Solar at market prices. Revenues are based on multi-year contracts reducing volatility and securing a steady cash flow. In
the fourth quarter of 2006, REC Wafer started production at a second plant at Herøya.

REC Solar comprises of solar cells manufacturing in Narvik (Norway) and solar modules in Glava (Sweden), as well as a small in-
stallation business of solar home systems in South Africa. Europe has been REC Solar’s main market, with Germany as the largest.
Revenues are based on short term contracts, and therefore influenced by market price fluctuations. During 2006, REC Solar
doubled its annual production rate measured in megawatt, due to ramp-up activities.

Other operations consist of companies and activities that separately are not significant enough to be reported as separate seg-
ments. The main operating company is EverQ (33.33 percent owned at December 31, 2006) and Corporate functions and Group
activities. EverQ is a joint venture between the REC Group, EverGreen Solar Inc. and Q-Cells AG, and manufactures solar modules.
Group functions and activities comprises parts of the Group management, corporate functions, research and development, busi-
ness development and the REC Group’s inhouse bank.
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Intercompany sales and transfers within the Group are based on market prices. Intercompany service transactions are based on
cost oriented prices.

Group contribution and dividends are not included in the profit and loss statements for the segments or Other. Segment revenues
and expenses includes transactions eliminated on consolidation. The large amounts for assets and liabilities in Other were due to
Group internal receivables and payables. Investment in shares in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities are not included in the
balance sheets for the segments or Other. Elimination of other financial items relates primarily to the fair value adjustments of
the convertible loans.

Profit and loss for the year ended December 31, 2006

(NOK in thousand) REC Silicon REC Wafer REC Solar Other Eliminations Total
Revenues - third parties 1 394 509 2 057 365 872 333 9 865 0 4 334 072
Revenues - REC Group 732 941 398 035 904 12 309 -1 144 189 0
Total revenues 2 127 450 2 455 400 873 237 22 174 -1 144 189 4 334 072
EBITDA 1 062 925 825 418 195 221 -76 747 -42 224 1 964 593
Depreciation, amortization and impairment -188 750 -161 584 -36 228 -3 603 0 -390 165
EBIT* 874 175 663 834 157 993 -80 350 -41 224 1 574 428
Associated companies 0 0 0 -18 330 0 -18 330
Other financial items -135 750 -34 457 2 377 165 084 -809 392 -812 138
Profit (loss) before taxes 738 425 629 377 160 370 66 404 -850 616 743 960

* The segment result is EBIT.

Profit and loss for the year ended December 31, 2005

(NOK in thousand) REC Silicon REC Wafer REC Solar Other Eliminations Total
Revenues - third parties 652 711 1 396 374 403 727 1 104 0 2 453 916
Revenues - REC Group 365 348 200 056 206 6 875 -572 485 0
Total revenues 1 018 059 1 596 430 403 933 7 979 -572 485 2 453 916
EBITDA 413 019 417 104 85 932 -43 746 -42 128 830 181
Depreciation, amortization and impairment -69 670 -126 785 -32 111 -168 0 -228 734
EBIT* 343 349 290 319 52 821 -43 914 -41 128 601 447
Associated companies 0 0 0 -7 052 0 -7 052
Other financial items -92 883 -2 577 -2 375 124 -466 353 -564 312
Profit (loss) before taxes 250 466 287 742 50 446 -51 090 -507 481 30 083

* The segment result is EBIT.

Profit and loss for the year ended December 31, 2004

(NOK in thousand) REC Silicon REC Wafer REC Solar Other Eliminations Total
Revenues - third parties 250 824 804 346 213 617 1 405 0 1 270 192
Revenues - REC Group 87 779 79 592 375 4 860 -172 606 0
Total revenues 338 603 883 938 213 992 6 265 -172 606 1 270 192
EBITDA 26 395 149 267 -9 113 -22 685 -2 804 141 060
Depreciation, amortization and impairment -910 -79 455 -21 131 260 0 -101 236
EBIT* 25 485 69 812 -30 244 -22 425 -2 804 39 824
Associated companies 0 22 0 -1 600 0 -1 578
Other financial items -1 077 -21 809 -10 215 -13 497 0 -46 598
Profit (loss) before taxes 24 408 48 025 -40 459 -37 522 -2 804 -8 352

* The segment result is EBIT.
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Balance sheet and investments for the year ended December 31, 2006

(NOK in thousand) REC Silicon REC Wafer REC Solar Other Eliminations Total
Other non current assets 2 624 833 1 798 948 201 262 273 708 0 4 898 751
Goodwill 274 780 342 325 4 084 171 095 0 792 284
Non current financial assets* 0 10 965 516 2 580 843 -2 528 115 64 209
Cash and cash equivalents 573 274 10 840 8 047 6 825 378 0 7 417 539
Other current assets 462 090 821 082 357 698 418 870 -514 045 1 545 695
Tax assets 59 323 0 14 910 109 408 -121 576 62 065
Total assets 3 994 300 2 984 160 586 517 10 379 302 -3 163 736 14 780 543
Other non-current liabilities 210 321 51 346 30 719 12 834 0 305 220
Non-current liabilities, interest bearing 2 226 046 135 970 710 1 914 973 -1 779 282 2 498 417
Other current liabilities 296 399 606 531 200 063 126 863 -421 853 808 003
Current liabilities, interest-bearing 0 688 308 43 289 163 054 -748 833 145 818
Tax liabilities 273 532 141 736 43 468 82 311 -154 479 386 568
Purchase of non current assets** 453 392 1 129 645 40 735 448 527 0 2 072 299

* Excluding investments in shares in subsidiaries.
** Including property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and acquired business.

Balance sheet and investments for the year ended December 31, 2005

(NOK in thousand) REC Silicon REC Wafer REC Solar Other Eliminations Total
Other non current assets 2 590 340 831 025 198 664 431 0 3 620 460
Goodwill 288 536 342 325 4 084 0 0 634 945
Non current financial assets* 25 559 12 468 3 320 1 232 124 -1 139 683 133 788
Cash and cash equivalents 322 762 146 664 138 819 59 366 0 667 611
Other current assets 475 142 808 566 90 893 204 855 -499 465 1 079 991
Tax assets 0 0 15 453 13 948 158 828 188 229
Total assets 3 702 339 2 141 048 451 233 1 510 724 -1 480 320 6 325 024
Other non-current liabilities 792 141 48 098 28 318 -517 833 0 350 724
Non-current liabilities, interest bearing 2 047 643 509 149 112 162 1 717 622 -620 535 3 766 041
Other current liabilities 314 492 446 259 163 344 198 468 -448 497 674 066
Current liabilities, interest-bearing 0 148 180 2 207 3 843 0 154 230
Tax liabilities 119 129 656 0 2 251 0 122 036
Purchase of non current assets** 2 696 115 264 145 140 537 356 0 3 101 153

* Excluding investments in shares in subsidiaries.
** Including property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and acquired business.

Balance sheet and investments by geographical location of the company for the year ended December 31, 2006

(NOK in thousand) USA Norway Other Eliminations Total
Other non current assets 2 624 833 1 925 630 348 288 0 4 898 751
Goodwill 274 780 346 409 171 095 0 792 284
Non current financial assets* 0 2 976 257 36 -2 912 084 64 209
Cash and cash equivalents 572 905 6 721 382 123 252 0 7 417 539
Other current assets 462 090 1 250 976 424 911 -592 282 1 545 695
Tax assets 59 323 115 725 3 054 -116 037 62 065
Total assets 3 993 931 13 336 379 1 070 636 -3 620 403 14 780 543
Other non-current liabilities 210 321 71 808 40 096 -17 005 305 220
Non-current liabilities, interest bearing 2 226 046 2 012 505 45 556 -1 785 690 2 498 417
Other current liabilities 295 548 717 406 280 126 -485 077 808 003
Current liabilities, interest-bearing 0 718 598 176 053 -748 833 145 818
Tax liabilities 273 198 243 385 24 464 -154 479 386 568
Purchase of non current assets** 453 392 1 155 623 463 284 0 2 072 299

* Excluding investments in shares in subsidiaries.
** Including property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and acquired business.

A
CC
O
U
N
TS
R
EC
G
R
O
U
P



R
EC
A
N
N
U
A
L
R
EP
O
R
T

2
0
0
6

77

A
CC
O
U
N
TS
R
EC
G
R
O
U
P

Balance sheet and investments by geographical location of the company for the year ended December 31, 2005

(NOK in thousand) USA Norway Other Eliminations Total
Other non current assets 2 590 340 958 798 71 322 0 3 620 460
Goodwill 288 536 346 409 0 0 634 945
Non current financial assets* 25 559 1 685 185 34 -1 576 990 133 788
Cash and cash equivalents 322 339 252 016 93 256 0 667 611
Other current assets 475 142 1 109 540 44 114 -548 805 1 079 991
Tax assets 0 25 829 2 911 159 489 188 229
Total assets 3 701 916 4 377 777 211 637 -1 966 306 6 325 024
Other non-current liabilities 792 141 -463 221 21 804 0 350 724
Non-current liabilities, interest bearing 2 021 479 2 573 821 21 475 -850 734 3 766 041
Other current liabilities 328 078 706 623 134 841 -495 476 674 066
Current liabilities, interest-bearing 0 154 225 5 0 154 230
Tax liabilities 119 129 2 907 0 0 122 036
Purchase of non current assets** 2 696 115 355 044 49 994 0 3 101 153

* Excluding investments in shares in subsidiaries.
** Including property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and acquired business.

Geographic distribution of external revenues based on customer location

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005 2004
Germany 1 427 255 1 118 007 428 497
Europe (excluding Germany) 455 066 120 475 143 701
USA 216 263 133 615 104 760
Japan 1 262 858 741 170 452 016
Asia (excluding Japan) 737 695 314 084 105 231
Other countries 234 934 26 564 35 988
Total revenues 4 334 072 2 453 916 1 270 192

Geographic distribution of external revenues based on company location

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005 2004
Norway 2 086 776 1 466 399 883 881
Sweden 837 160 324 569 129 376
USA 1 388 866 652 711 251 018
Other countries 21 270 10 236 5 917
Total revenues 4 334 072 2 453 916 1 270 192
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6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land Machinery Other Assets
and and tangible under

(NOK in thousand) buildings equipment fixed assets construction Total

Carrying value at January 1, 2005 195 124 402 737 51 000 143 081 791 942
Exchange differences 19 120 124 959 11 598 0 155 677
Acquisition of business 347 546 1 661 338 92 274 116 872 2 218 030
Net additions 89 359 336 419 24 928 -24 272 426 434
Disposals -10 598 -5 195 0 0 -15 793
Depreciation -17 476 -161 799 -22 078 0 -201 353
Impairment 0 -13 733 0 0 -13 733
Carrying value at December 31, 2005 623 075 2 344 726 157 722 235 681 3 361 204

At December 31, 2005
Cost price 663 258 2 685 608 209 598 235 681 3 794 145
Accumulated depreciation & impairment -40 183 -340 882 -51 876 0 -432 941
Carrying value at December 31, 2005 623 075 2 344 726 157 722 235 681 3 361 204

Carrying value at January 1, 2006 623 075 2 344 726 157 722 235 681 3 361 204
Exchange differences -25 458 -122 285 -11 574 -2 595 -161 912
Acquisition of business 30 949 85 016 2 757 78 911 197 633
Net additions 410 638 865 517 12 027 308 790 1 596 972
Disposals -93 -2 992 -1 327 0 -4 412
Depreciation -33 883 -271 628 -28 366 0 -333 877
Impairment 0 -11 501 -306 0 -11 807
Carrying value at December 31, 2006 1 005 228 2 886 853 130 933 620 787 4 643 801

At December 31, 2006
Cost price 1 078 504 3 488 996 208 399 620 787 5 396 686
Accumulated depreciation & impairment -73 276 -602 143 -77 466 0 -752 885
Carrying value at December 31, 2006 1 005 228 2 886 853 130 933 620 787 4 643 801

Acquisitions of business were related to EverQ in 2006 and ASiMI and SGS in 2005, see notes 9 and 30.

Estimated useful lives of assets included in the different classes are primarily in the range of: buildings 12-33 years; machinery
and equipment 3-15 years and other tangible fixed assets 3-7 years.

Finance leases
(NOK in thousand) December 31, 2006
Cost - capitalized finance leases 145 793
Accumulated depreciation -8 417
Carrying value 137 376

Land and buildings 30 119
Machinery and equipment 104 835
Other tangible fixed assets 2 422
Carrying value 137 376

Finance leases at December 31, 2006 were primarily lease of plant and equipment for recovery of exhausted slurry for REC
Wafer. Slurry is the cutting fluid used when sawing silicon blocks into wafers. The plant is built adjacent to REC ScanWafer’s plants
at Herøya, Norway. The agreement is a capacity agreement where REC Wafer is expected to take all of the output of the plant (see
note 29). The lease elements of the agreement are for the building, land and for machinery and are fixed according to the total
capital expenditures incurred. The facility was put into operation at the end of 2006, and the estimated fair values may change
and may increase for any further capital expenditure. The amount that was capitalized in 2006 was NOK 138 million. The mini-
mum contract term is until December 31, 2015, and shall be prolonged automatically for two-year periods unless terminated by
either party with twelve months notice. REC has some rights to purchase the plant, including subsequent to the agreement term
at the remaining non-paid capital expenditures by REC, but not lower than a stated minimum amount. The assets are depreci-
ated over the shorter of estimated useful lives and the lease term.
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7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Assets Customer
under relation-

(NOK in thousand) Goodwill construction ships Other Total
Carrying value at January 1, 2005 392 961 0 0 28 350 421 311
Exchange differences 18 521 1 996 6 382 2 824 29 723
Acquisition of business 223 463 39 746 127 063 65 688 455 960
Net additions 0 0 0 855 855
Amortization 0 0 0 -13 648 -13 648
Carrying value at December 31, 2005 634 945 41 742 133 445 84 069 894 201

At December 31, 2005
Cost price 634 945 41 742 133 445 114 597 924 729
Accumulated amortization 0 0 0 -30 528 -30 528
Carrying value at December 31, 2005 634 945 41 742 133 445 84 069 894 201

Carrying value at January 1, 2006 634 945 41 742 133 445 84 069 894 201
Exchange differences -12 219 -3 168 -8 483 -3 199 -27 069
Acquisition of business 169 558 0 0 57 124 226 682
Net additions 0 0 0 2 436 2 436
Internal development 0 23 707 0 0 23 707
Disposals 0 0 -1 576 -113 -1 689
Effect final PPA 0 0 -26 553 0 -26 553
Amortization 0 0 -13 872 -30 609 -44 481
Carrying value at December 31, 2006 792 284 62 281 82 961 109 708 1 047 234

At December 31, 2006
Cost price 792 284 62 281 121 743 166 571 1 142 879
Accumulated amortization 0 0 -38 782 -56 863 -95 645
Carrying value at December 31, 2006 792 284 62 281 82 961 109 708 1 047 234

Acquisitions of business were related to EverQ in 2006 and ASiMI and SGS in 2005, see notes 9 and 30. Cost price and accumu-
lated amortization in 2006 was affected by the final purchase price allocation (PPA) of ASiMI and SGS, see note 30.

The intangible assets included above have estimated finite useful lives, over which the assets are amortized on a straight-line
basis. Intangible assets under construction are not ready for its intended use, and consequently amortization has not started. At
December 31, 2006, assets under construction related to the Fluid Bed Reactor technology in REC SGS. Customer relationships
are amortized over the expected customer relationship periods. At December 31, 2006, customer relationships were primarily
related to pre-existing relationships at the time of acquisition of ASiMI and SGS, and are amortized over a period of 10 to 16
years. Other intangible assets at December 31, 2006, were primarily related to order backlog in EverQ (1 year), Silane technol-
ogy in REC Silicon (3 years) and furnace technology agreement in REC Wafer (10 years).

Impairment test
Goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units at December 31, in each segment identified
as follows:

Carrying amount of goodwill at December 31
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
REC Silicon* 274 781 288 536
REC Wafer - REC ScanWafer and REC SiTech 342 325 342 325
REC Solar - REC ScanCell and Solar Vision 4 082 4 084
Other (EverQ) ** 171 096 0
Total REC Group 792 284 634 945

* The amount for 2005 has been adjusted for the final purchase price allocation.
** EverQ was acquired with effect at December 19, 2006. EverQ is a jointly controlled entity that is accounted for using proportionate consolidation.

The valuation analysis of goodwill has been updated at December 31, 2006.
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The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during 2006 were due to translation differences and the acquisition of EverQ.

Recoverable amounts for the cash-generating unit’s (group of units) are based on value in use. Value in use has been estimated
by discounted cash flows. Business plans approved by the management has been used in the calculation. EBITDA less capital
expenditure has been used as estimate of cash flows. The cash flows do not include effects from expansion and enhancement
investments. Cash flows and discount rates are pre-tax.

The business plan period for the subsidiaries is four years. To arrive at the estimated recoverable amount, the REC Group would
normally use an estimated stable cash flow and a growth rate factor to estimate a terminal value. However, the carrying value of
goodwill and cash generating units in the REC Group are low compared to the fair values of the company and its cash-generating
units. Much of the sales for the coming years are already contracted. For the subsidiaries, the discounted cash flows for the busi-
ness plan period of four years significantly exceed the carrying amounts of the cash generating units. Consequently, REC need
not determine a growth rate to be used in the calculations at December 31, 2006. In the calculations in 2005 a growth rate of
1 percent was used. This is below the average expected growth rate for the photovoltaics (PV) industry.

Key assumptions are defined as those to which the units’ (group of units’) recoverable amounts are most sensitive. Based on the
analysis performed, the management’s opinion is that there are no key assumptions at December 31, 2006, for which the recov-
erable amounts for the subsidiaries are sensitive when comparing to the carrying amounts.

Generally, in the current situation the PV industry is dependent on government incentives to the end users. Critical factors and
key assumptions would be development in prices and cost reductions over time to be competitive to other sources of energy. Cost
reduction depends on further technological developments and future investments. Such investments and effects have not been
included in the current estimation of recoverable amounts.

In the calculation for EverQ, key assumptions include expected capacity utilization, development in prices and cost of goods sold. For
EverQ it is assumed full capacity utilization of the production assets, declining prices in line with general market expectations and
declining costs of goods sold due to improvements in the production process. The estimated cash flow is based on three year man-
agement forecast and an extrapolated cash flow beyond this based on a normalized margin level and a zero percent growth rate. This
is below the average expected growth rate for the PV industry. The calculation for EverQ includes estimated cash flows related to the
second plant that is under construction, which is based on the same technology as the first plant that was successfully completed in
2006.

The discount rates are based on Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC). The cost of a company’s market value of debt and
equity capital, weighted accordingly to reflect its capital structure, gives its WACC. The WACC rates used to discount future cash
flows are based on 10 years risk free rates in the relevant markets and take into account the debt premium, market risk premium,
gearing and asset beta. The REC Group has been listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange from May 2006, and has from the same pe-
riod in time been fully equity funded (net cash position). The factors used to calculate WACC could change over time. The pre-tax
discount rates used for 2005 and 2006 were 9 percent (rounded) for both years.

8 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
At January 1 58 150 10 910
REC ScanWafer GmbH 1) 0 -3 998
Investment in associates 11 772 58 290
Share of loss in associates 2) -18 330 -7 052
Exchange difference 1 066 0
At December 31 52 658 58 150

1) REC ScanWafer GmbH was in 2005 accounted for as a subsidiary and in 2004 as an associate and therefore the 2005 investment is reclassified.
2) Share of loss is after tax and minority interest of associates.

100% of the results of the associate CSG Solar AG (Germany), are as follows:
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
Assets 519 060 441 225
Liabilities 293 586 83 291
Revenues 241 889
Loss -80 899 -30 619
Interest held/voting rights at December 31 21.71% 23.03%
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9 JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

EVERQ
Effective December 19, 2006, the REC Group increased its ownership in EverQ GmbH from 15 percent to 33.33 percent. From
this date, EverQ became a jointly controlled entity of the REC Group and is proportionately consolidated in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements of REC. Total cost of the acquisition of the additional 18.33 percent share was NOK 305 million, of which NOK
303 million was paid in cash in 2006 and the remaining in 2007. The initial purchase allocation, which is performed by indepen-
dent financial experts, has been determined to be provisional, primarily because of pending discussions between the venturers
regarding the cost price. EverQ was founded in December 2004 and manufactures solar modules based on String Ribbon Technol-
ogy. EverQ is based in Thalheim, Germany. EverQ’s first factory started production medio 2006, and a second factory was under
construction at December 31, 2006. REC, Q-Cells AG and Evergreen Solar Inc jointly control the operations of EverQ.

Details at the time of acquisition
(NOK in thousand)
Cost price acquisition from 15% to 33.33% 304 902
Carrying value of the initial 15% shareholding 37 114
Increased values of net assets recorded to equity 76 817
Total (33.33%) 418 833
Estimated fair value of net assets (33.33%) 249 275
Goodwill 169 558

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of EverQ is related to the anticipated profitability of its operations and technology hedge
for the REC Group. Estimated fair value of net assets included estimated intangible assets of NOK 57 million, primarily related to
order backlog that will be fully amortized during 2007.

The amounts in the tables below represent the REC Group’s 33.33 percent share of EverQ that was included in the income state-
ment and in the cash flow statement for 2006 and the balance sheet items at December 31, 2006. The amounts include goodwill
and fair value adjustments.

Balance sheet items
(NOK in thousand) 2006
Ownership at December 31 33.33%
Non-current assets (incl. goodwill) 435 171
Current assets 260 355
Total assets 695 526

Non-current liabilities 46 676
Current liabilities 223 835
Total liabilities 270 511

Profit and loss
(NOK in thousand)
Ownership in the period 33.33% from

Dec. 19, 2006
Revenues 9 865
Expenses -9 519
Net financials items -97
Income taxes -185
Profit after income tax 64
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Cash flow
(NOK in thousand) 2006
Ownership in the period 33.33% from

Dec. 19, 2006
Net cash flow from operating activities -6 992
Net cash flow from investing activities -12 192
Net cash flow from financing activities -19 384
Net cash flow in the period -38 568

Cash and cash equivalents at the date of acquisition 157 921
Foreign currency effect on cash and cash equivalents 2 841
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 122 194

Net cash payment
(NOK in thousand)
Cash payment for the increase in share from 15% to 33.33% -302 844
Cash and cash equivalents at the date of acquisition 157 921
Acquisition of joint venture, net of cash purchased -144 923

SOLAR GRADE SILICON LLC
In 2004 and up to August 1, 2005, Solar Grade Silicon LLC (SGS) was a jointly controlled entity of the REC Group and was pro-
portionately consolidated in the consolidated financial statements of REC. At September 30, 2004, the REC Group increased the
ownership from 60 percent to 70 percent and at August 1, 2005, SGS became a wholly owned subsidiary of the REC Group. The
amounts in the table below represent the REC Group’s 60/70 percent share that was included in the income statement for 2004
and 2005 and in the balance sheet at December 31, 2004.

Balance sheet items
(NOK in thousand) 2005 2004
Ownership at December 31 NA 70%
Non-current assets (incl. goodwill) 16 625
Current assets 127 681
Total assets 144 306

Non-current liabilities 0
Current liabilities 29 399
Total liabilities 29 399

Profit and loss
(NOK in thousand) 2005 2004
Ownership in the period 70% for 7 months 60% for 9 months

70% for 3 months
Revenues 215 860 338 319
Expenses -162 203 -312 085
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10 INVESTMENT IN SHARES (ACCOUNTED FOR AS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS)

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
At January 1 38 190 3 087
Transfer to jointly controlled entity /subsidiary 1) -37 114 -2 500
Additions 50 37 603
At December 31 1 126 38 190

1) The investment in EverQ became a jointly controlled entity in 2006, and SiTech became a subsidiary in 2005.

11 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair Values at December 31 2006 2005
(NOK in thousand) Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Interest rate swaps 0 0 5 915 0
Foreign exchange forward contracts 42 052 95 263 17 032 18 748
Embedded derivatives 0 52 778 0 0
Total 42 052 148 041 22 947 18 748
- of which designated as hedging instruments 8 810 142 820 0 0

Derivatives are used extensively to reduce exchange rate risk in the REC Group. The REC Group manages the hedging of net cash
flows exposed to exchange rate risk, as a portfolio on the basis of anticipated future cash flows. See note 3 for information on the
REC Group’s general policy for covering of currency risk and interest rate risk.

In the second quarter of 2006, REC ASA entered into currency contracts for the purchase of USD 200 million to hedge a portion of
the future investments in the new polysilicon plant in Moses Lake, WA, USA. Hedge accounting has not been applied to this hedge.

Foreign exchange forward contracts
Maturity profile (notional amounts in

Notional amounts in currency (in thousand): NOK thousand equivalents):

Outstanding at Dec. 31 2006 2005 Total 2007 2008
EUR Swap 30 910 0 255 547 40 650 214 897
EUR Flex. Fwd 363 540 136 500 2 899 776 1 765 060 1 134 716
EUR Particip. Fwd 52 000 166 500 428 376 428 376 0
EUR Fwd 0 35 500 0 0 0
USD Swap 3 463 0 21 362 21 362 0
USD Flex. Fwd 24 133 0 145 764 145 764 0
USD Fwd 9 600 0 63 719 63 719 0
Total forward sales NA NA 3 814 544 2 464 931 1 349 613

EUR Swap 30 910 0 253 383 253 383 0
EUR Flex. Fwd 5 530 0 44 682 39 430 5 252
USD Swap 3 463 0 21 448 21 448 0
USD Flex. Fwd 150 000 138 800 911 250 609 000 302 250
USD Fwd 40 452 32 400 268 443 268 443 0
USD Flex. Fwd 94 480 0 609 165 244 169 364 996
CHF Fwd 1 270 0 6 608 5 714 894
CHF Flex. Fwd 7 120 16 000 37 629 31 763 5 866
GBP Fwd 0 2 150 0 0 0
Total forward purchases NA NA 2 152 608 1 473 350 679 258

To cover currency exposures, the REC Group uses currency swaps (Swap), outright forward contracts (Fwd), Participating forward
contracts (Particip. fwd) and Flexible forward contracts (Flex. fwd). An outright forward transaction has the exchange rate fixed
on the contract trade date. Flexible forward contracts and Participating forward contracts are outright forward contracts com-
bined with an option element.

Maximum credit exposure for the REC Group on the counterparties for the derivative financial instruments is equal to the fair
value of the instruments.
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Embedded foreign exchange forward contracts

Notional amounts (USD in thousand): Maturity profile at Dec. 31, 2006 in (NOK thousand equivalents):

2006 2005 Total 2007 2008 2009 Later
Total contract value 388 466 0 2 368 488 155 388 314 757 479 183 1 419 160

Embedded derivatives are currency derivatives embedded in sales contracts in REC Wafer. The USD to be received under the sales
contracts are not in the functional currencies of the parties to the contracts. The majority of these derivatives are designated as
cash flow hedges.

Interest-rate swaps
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
The notional amounts of the outstanding interest-rate swap contracts 0 595 035

During 2006, the REC Group became net cash positive, and the interest rate swaps were terminated.

Hedging activities
Cash Flow Hedging
REC Wafer had at December 31, 2006, cash flow hedging activities primarily related to currency hedge of purchase of polysilicon
in USD and sale of wafers in EUR and USD. The fair value of the hedging instruments, including any ineffective part, at December
31, 2006, is included in the fair value of derivatives with total assets (gain) of NOK 9 million and total liabilities (loss) of NOK 143
million. The ineffectiveness recognized in the income statement that arises from cash flow hedges was a loss of NOK 13 million in
2006. The cash flows are expected to occur during 2007 and 2008, and are primarily expected to enter into the determination
of profit or loss in the same periods. During 2006 and at December 31, 2006, no previously cash flow hedged forecasted transac-
tions were no longer expected to occur.

12 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
Trade receivables 709 190 365 035
Less provision for impairment of trade receivables -252 -312
Trade receivables – net 708 938 364 723
Prepayments 97 410 244 824
Other receivables 188 840 99 980
Total 995 188 709 527

The fair values of trade and other receivables approximate the carrying values.
The REC Group had insignificant losses on receivables.
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13 INVENTORIES

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
Raw materials etc 348 784 213 867
Work in progress 72 612 59 128
Finished goods 92 522 76 812
Reserve for obsolescence -5 463 -2 290
Total 508 455 347 517

The REC Group had insignificant impairment losses or reversals of losses on inventories.

14 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
Bank deposits 1 813 481 667 611
Money Market Funds 5 604 058 0
Total cash and cash equivalents 7 417 539 667 611

The average effective interest rate on bank deposits at the end of 2006 was 3.6 percent. Bank deposits have an average matu-
rity of less than 30 days. See note 17 for interest rate sensitivity.

The Money Market Funds are managed by REC relationship banks that invest primarily in high quality commercial paper with an
average duration of maximum three months. The Money Market Funds are expected to give a yield that approximates the refer-
ence index ST1X (3 months Norwegian government paper). The funds under management are available on demand.

In 2006, the REC Group established a cash pool system with Nordea Bank for the Nordic REC entities. Under this agreement, REC
ASA is the Group account holder, whereas the other companies in the Group are sub-account holders or participants. The bank
can offset overdrafts against deposits, so that the net position represents the net balance between the bank and REC ASA. At
December 31, 2006, the net balance in the cash pool system was NOK 115 million, included as part of bank deposits.

Restricted cash
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
Restricted cash 155 120 164 896

In 2006, the REC Group established a guarantee through Nordea Bank to Bærum Kommune for NOK 19 million covering tax with-
holding for employees in REC ASA, REC ScanWafer, REC SiTech and REC ScanCell.

In the Limited Liability Agreement (the “LLC Agreement”) of REC Advanced Silicon Materials LLC (ASiMI), there are various provi-
sions that are intended to protect Komatsu America Corporation’s retained interest in ASiMI, see note 30. Among other things,
the LLC Agreement prohibits ASiMI and REC Silicon Inc from pooling of funds with those of any other person or entity. At Decem-
ber 31, 2006, REC Silicon had bank deposits equal to NOK 573 million. These funds were not generally available for the REC
Group as a whole.
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15 EQUITY AND SHAREHOLDERS INFORMATION

Recognized Total share-
Share Treasury Share Other paid Total paid Other income & holders’

(NOK in thousand) capital shares premium in capital in capital equity expense equity
At January 1, 2005 37 285 0 667 171 283 056 987 512 94 869 -8 343 1 074 038
Transfer of share premium
reserves to share capital 261 004 0 -261 004 0 0 0 0 0
Share issue 4 500 0 29 500 0 34 000 0 0 34 000
SiTech (contribution in kind) 1 530 0 17 581 0 19 111 0 0 19 111
Treasury shares transactions 0 -225 0 0 -225 19 755 0 19 530
Total recognized income
and expense 0 0 0 0 0 0 111 256 111 256
At December 31, 2005 304 319 -225 453 248 283 056 1 040 398 114 624 102 913 1 257 935

Share issue/initial
public offering 73 000 0 6 733 528 0 6 806 528 0 0 6 806 528
Shares paid, not issued 154 0 12 975 0 13 129 0 0 13 129
Conversion of
convertible loan 116 853 0 1 066 938 0 1 183 791 0 0 1 183 791
Fair value effect on
convertible loans 0 0 0 0 0 1 323 867 0 1 323 867
Tax on fair value effect on
convertible loans 0 0 0 0 0 -370 683 0 -370 683
Treasury shares transactions 0 225 0 0 225 3 302 0 3 527
Total recognized income
and expense 0 0 0 0 0 0 418 424 418 424
At December 31, 2006 494 326 0 8 266 689 283 056 9 044 070 1 071 110 521 337 10 636 517

Share capital at December 31, 2006 includes 153,559 shares paid but not issued.

At December 31, 2006, the REC Group had slightly more than 9,000 shareholders. The total number of outstanding shares at the
end of 2006 was 494.2 million, each with a par value of NOK 1. At the end of 2005, the total number of outstanding shares
amounted to 15.2 million with a par value of NOK 20 (corresponding to 304 million shares after share split, see below).

During 2006, all convertible bonds were converted to shares in REC, see note 27, increasing the number of shares by 5.84 million
before split and 116.8 million after split.

On the Annual General Meeting (AGM) on April 20, 2006, the shares in REC ASA were split 1:20 (effected on April 21, 2006), bring-
ing the number of outstanding shares to approximately 421 million. Subsequently to this, the company carried out a major share
issue in connection with its initial public offering (IPO). The share issue increased the number of shares by 73 million, resulting in
gross (net after tax) proceeds to REC ASA from the offering of NOK 6,928 million (6,820 million). The share issue was oversub-
scribed, and attracted interest from a significant amount of investors both internationally and in Norway. At the time of the listing
on May 9, 2006, REC ASA had approximately 22,000 shareholders, compared with less than 300 shareholders in the beginning of
2006.

The following shareholders had 1 percent or more of the total outstanding shares in REC ASA at December 31, 2006:

Name of shareholders No. of shares Ownership
Good Energies Investments B.V. 169 801 900 34.36%
Elkem AS 115 935 300 23.46%
Hafslund Venture AS 105 411 520 21.33%
Orkla ASA 20 000 000 4.05%
State Street Bank and Trust Co. 12 682 144 2.57%
Sumitomo Corporation 6 662 000 1.35%
JP Morgan Chase Bank 5 986 650 1.21%
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co 5 266 191 1.07%

At the AGM held April 20, 2006, the Board was granted the authority to increase the share capital by a maximum of NOK 15 mil-
lion in one or more issuances and at a subscription price per share to be fixed by the Board in connection with each issuance. The
authority is valid until the next AGM, but in any case maximum 15 months.
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At the AGM held on April 20, 2006, the Board was authorized to repurchase up to 10 percent of the face value of the Company’s
share capital at a price per share of between NOK 10 and NOK 300. This authorization will be valid for 18 months from the date
of the AGM or until it is rescinded by a resolution of a subsequent AGM.

16 MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION, LOANS AND SHAREHOLDINGS

According to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act § 6 -16a, the Board of Directors shall establish a specific declaration
regarding determination of salary and other compensation to leading employees. Also, according to the Norwegian Public Lim-
ited Company Act § 5-6 (3), an advisory voting on the Board of Director’s guidelines for determining executives’ compensation
for the upcoming fiscal year shall be held at the General Meeting. If the guidelines include share based payment schemes, such
schemes must also be approved by the General Meeting.

Salary and other compensations for 2006 are addressed below. As regards guidelines for determination of salary and other com-
pensations for leading employees for the upcoming fiscal year, the Board of Directors will propose the following guidelines for
advisory voting at the General Meeting 2007:

REC’s compensation policy intends to be a positive force in developing our company, through attracting, incentivizing, retaining
and awarding business relevant talent and strong performers, taking both short and long term value creation into consideration.

Base Salary level should be determined locally and reflect local market average level for corresponding positions and qualifica-
tions in relevant businesses.

Performance Bonus should be considered and provided for selected individuals whose achievement of performance objectives
can be measured through clearly defined results parameters within areas that the individual by virtue of his or her position,
qualifications and performance can influence. Performance objectives should be stretched value adds, meeting/exceeding ex-
pectations from that particular job function.

In addition to Base Salary and Performance Bonus, REC’s compensation plan includes also a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) as
explained further below.

REC offers supplementary pension schemes to employees in accordance with normal standard for corresponding companies, see
below and note 19. At January 1, 2007, REC offers an additional supplementary deposit based pension scheme to Norwegian
employees with base salary level above 12 G.

In addition to the above mentioned compensation components, REC offers car allowance, phone coverage and a limited number
of other benefits to selected employees.

In case REC has a need to terminate employment contracts, or there is a common understanding between REC and the employee
that the employment contract should be terminated, a severance payment will be negotiated on an individual basis.
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Compensation of the Group management 6) 7) 8)

Amounts in NOK (if not otherwise stated)
Pension Other

Base Bonus Benefits- taxable
Name salary 5) earned 1) LTIP2) change ABO3) benefits4)

Erik Thorsen 2 511 750 1 250 000 0 113 766 1 388 898
President and CEO 50% 0%
Reidar Langmo 1 388 103 560 000 93 333 177 992 148 637
Senior Vice President 40% 40%
Erik Sauar 1 320 438 540 000 675 000 126 228 68 187
Senior Vice President and CTO 40% 50%
Gøran Bye USD 287 500 USD 115 000 975 000 0 USD 32 145
Executive Vice President 40% 50%
John Andersen Jr. 1 633 114 825 000 825 000 143 552 140 759
Executive Vice President 50% 50%
Thor-Christian Tuv 1 152 351 450 000 345 000 172 822 261 971
Executive Vice President 40% 30%
Bjørn Brenna 1 500 000 1 000 000 1 000 000 171 818 140 974
Executive Vice President and CFO 50% 50%
Svànaug Bergland 929 059 300 000 300 000 94 290 108 741
Senior Vice President 30% 30%
Jon Andre Løkke 1 178 317 330 000 330 000 131 946 290 186
Senior Vice President 30% 30%
Total 2006 ii) 13 457 016 5 992 553 4 543 333 1 132 414 2 754 515

Total 2005 9) ii) 9 714 769 6 669 070 0 818 764 1 021 290

i) All amounts are exclusive of social security tax.
ii) Compensation to Gøran Bye has been calculated based on average USD/NOK exchange rate for the relevant years.

1) The bonuses are annual performance bonuses that are normally not to exceed the percentage of base salary as stated in the
table. The amounts in the table above represent the bonuses earned during the fiscal year, and are normally paid and reported as
taxable income for the employee in the subsequent year. The bonus is not included in the basis for holiday pay. The reasons be-
hind the bonus scheme are to award, incentivize, retain and attract high talent and outstanding performance in business critical
functions, taking both short and long term value creation into consideration.

The bonus amounts for 2005 include cash payments and sale of shares to Jon Andre Løkke and Thor-Christian Tuv as compensa-
tion for a cash bonus program that had not been implemented for the years 2003, 2004 and 2005. The final agreements were
entered into at the turn of the year 2005/2006. The benefits are taxable for the employees in 2006 but reported in 2005 in the
table as they relates to periods prior to 2006. The cash payments were NOK 2,500,000 for Mr. Løkke and NOK 1,400,000 for Mr.
Tuv. The reported taxable benefit related to their purchase of 2,817 shares each (before split 1:20) in REC ASA at a price of NOK
200 per share, was NOK 153,435 each.

2) Certain of the REC Group’s employees are entitled to participate in the Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). The LTIP is
a three-year plan under which an annual ‘‘LTIP Pool’’ is set aside and then paid out to eligible employees in three equal annual
installments on March 1, of each of the three subsequent years. If payments are made under the program, each LTIP participant
is entitled to a share of the LTIP Pool equal to her or his LTIP earning ratio, which ranges from 15-50 percent of each employee’s
annual base salary. LTIP participants are required to use 25 percent of each annual LTIP payment to purchase shares in REC ASA
and to deposit the shares in an account at VPS for the remainder of the three-year LTIP period under which the LTIP payment
was made. If an employee terminates its employment before December 31, 2009, its remaining share of the unpaid LTIP 2006
Pool and all shares will be retained by the company.

The LTIP program has an annual cap. The amounts included in the table represents the total benefits that are earned during 2006
(the ‘‘LTIP Pool’’), and that will be paid out in the three subsequent years, as described above, provided the person is still em-
ployed by the REC Group at the time of payment. The amounts are expensed in the income statement over a period up to four
years. Reidar Langmo resigned before March 2007, and the amount is reduced to the payment in 2007, that is included in the
table. The LTIP Pool for 2006 is based on the REC Group’s actual financial performance compared to budgeted financial perfor-
mance. Due the positive development for the REC Group during 2006, the LTIP program reached the cap for 2006. The LTIP is
not included in the basis for holiday pay. There was no LTIP for 2005.

A
CC
O
U
N
TS
R
EC
G
R
O
U
P



R
EC
A
N
N
U
A
L
R
EP
O
R
T

2
0
0
6

89

A
CC
O
U
N
TS
R
EC
G
R
O
U
P

The LTIP has been established as one driving force in developing the company, and it intends to award and incentivize outstand-
ing performance and attract and retain strong talent in business critical functions. Particular considerations will be given to
critical success factors, such as long term value creation, continued growth and development of the REC Group’s market and/or
technological position.

3) The Group management, except for Gøran Bye, has pension benefits via REC’s Group pension plan in Norway, see note 19. In
general, REC’s pension plan in Norway provide for a lifetime retirement benefit coverage of 67 percent of pension qualifying in-
come at the time of retirement up to 12 G (see definition in note 19) if the employee has fully earned (40 years) rights to social
security payments as retired. It includes some spouse, children and disability pension rights. The amounts are calculated using
the same assumptions as used in note 19, excluding social security tax. ABO (Accumulated Benefit Obligations) pension benefits
earned is the change in the net present value of pension benefits earned during the year based on the current pension qualifying
income.

Mr. Thorsen is entitled to annual retirement pension equal to 65 percent of his base salary at the time of retirement, see 4) below.
As of January 1, 2007 his employment contract has been amended and the retirement age has been reduced from 67 years to
65 years. Erik Thorsen was included in the Group’s ordinary pension plan in Norway as of August 1, 2006.

4) Other taxable benefits include benefits like company car/ coverage of automobile expenses / vehicle allowance, telephone and
Internet service, newspapers, health club memberships, reimbursement of home-office related expenses, individual pension pay-
ments and certain other benefits. The benefits vary, and the amounts in the table are the amounts that are reported as taxable
income in the relevant year, based on rules and regulations in the relevant tax laws. Bonus payments are not included because
earned bonus is reported separately.

In 2006, Mr. Thorsen received a nonrecurring compensation of NOK 500,000 for his first year of employment due to absence of
a personal pension- and insurance scheme for this period. The amount in 2006 for Mr. Thorsen also includes a cost of NOK
662,628 for an individual pension insurance to cover the difference between REC’s ordinary pension scheme and 65 percent of
base salary, see 3) above.

There were no share based payment agreements in the REC Group in 2005 or 2006, except for the sale of shares as described in
1) above.

5) Base salary represents the amounts paid in the year, including holiday pay. Base salary is normally adjusted at January 1. Bjørn
Brenna was employed at March 1, 2006, and the base salary is for 10 months.

6) All amounts include payments and benefits from REC ASA and subsidiaries to the Group management. There were no payments
and benefits from REC companies for services outside the function as Group management.

7) In the beginning of 2007, the following changes in the Group management took place: John Andersen, Jr. has been appointed
EVP REC Solar & Group COO. Ingelise Arntsen has been hired as new Executive Vice President at REC ASA effective June 1, 2007
with the responsibility to lead REC’s Wafer division. Thor Christian Tuv is not a member of the Group Management from January
1, 2007. Reidar Langmo resigned at February 1, 2007.

8) During the years 2005 and 2006 no payments were made, or benefits earned, for termination of employment for any of the
members of the Group management.

The following members of the Group management have arrangements that entitle them to special benefits if the employment is
terminated, beyond the normal notice period of 6 months:
REC ASA may terminate Mr. Thorsen’s employment contract at any time and with immediate effect, upon payment of up to 30
months of salary if the agreement is terminated within the first two years of employment and 24 months of salary if the agree-
ment is terminated after the first two years of employment. In the event of dismissal, Mr. Thorsen would be entitled to the first
twelve months of the compensation, but any amounts in excess of this that he receives from another employer would be de-
ducted from the balance.

In the event Mr. Bye’s contract is terminated, he is entitled to a severance payment equal to six months of his salary together with a
pension allowance, a vehicle allowance and a bonus calculated on a pro rata basis, and an allowance for his relocation to Norway.

In the event that Mr. Andersen’s contract is terminated, he is entitled to a severance payment equal to six months of his salary.

Mr. Brenna is entitled to a severance payment equal to 12 months of his salary if his contract is terminated.

Ms. Bergland is entitled to two years’ salary in the event of her early termination.
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Except as noted above, no members of the Group management or Board of Directors have service contracts with the REC Group
that provide for benefits upon termination of employment.

9) The Group management for 2005 included; Erik Thorsen (7 months), Alf Bjørseth (5 months), Bjørn R. Berntsen, Reidar Lang-
mo, Erik Sauar, Gøran Bye (6 months), Tor Hartmann (6 months), John Andersen Jr., Thor-Christian Tuv, Svànaug Bergland (2.5
months) and Jon Andre Løkke.

Compensation of the Board of Directors
(Amounts in NOK) Compensation

Board for board elected
Name compensation 10) committees 10) 11)

Tore Schiøtz 300 000 0
Marcel Brenninkmeijer 150 000 0
Ole Enger 150 000 37 500
Roar Engeland 70 060 14 147
Rune Bjerke 150 000 37 500
Paul Kloppenborg 13) 150 000 37 500
Richard Aa 13) 79 940 19 985
Halvor T Svartdal 13) 150 000 37 500
Karen Helene Ulltveit-Moe 12) 0 0
Line Geheb 12) 0 0
Susanne Munch Thore 12) 0 0
Total period May 22, 2005 – April 20, 2006 1 200 000 184 132

Total period 2004 – 2005 821 288 62 500

10) The amounts in the table represent the amounts that were paid in 2006 and 2005, respectively and that were approved by the
Annual General Meeting (AGM) as compensation for the periods between the AGMs. Board compensation for the period April 20,
2006 to May 14, 2007, will be decided by the AGM on May 14, 2007.

11) Board elected committees are: Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Corporate Governance Committee

12) Members effective from May 9, 2006.

13) Members up to the AGM April 20, 2006

None of the Board members received compensation from any other REC Group companies. Any compensation received by other
companies outside the REC Group is not included.

Loans and guarantees for employees and Board of Directors
Total loans and guarantees to employees amounted to NOK 2.5 million at December 31, 2006.
On July 8, 2005, the Company loaned Erik Thorsen NOK 700 000, and on December 8, 2005, the Company loaned Svànaug
Bergland NOK 500,000. The purpose of each of these loans was to facilitate the borrower’s purchase of a car. Each of the loans
is interest and installment free for two years. In each case, if the borrower resigns from the Company, the loan will become due
and payable. The loans are secured by mortgage on their houses.

On August 1, 2005, the Company loaned Gøran Bye USD 50,000 on an interest free basis, which is to be repaid by setting-off
amounts owed against his net annual bonus payments, beginning in 2007.

No Board member or other shareholders, including their closely related parties, had any loans or guarantees at December 31, 2006.
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Shareholdings and convertible bonds
The number of shares and convertible bonds owned by members of the Board of Directors and the REC Group management, in-
cluding their closely related parties, are shown in the table below. At December 31, 2005, there were no outstanding options, and
at December 31, 2006, there were no outstanding options or convertible bonds. The table includes those that were members at
December 31, 2006.

2006 2005
Name Title Shares Shares* Bonds**
Reidar Langmo (trough Rebilijo Invest) Senior Vice President 2 777 720 6 647 960 298 981
Erik Sauar (also trough Sauar Invest) Senior Vice President & TCO 696 460 866 500 66 136
Tore Schiøtz (trough Granhuag
Industier and Centrum as) Chairman of the Board 500 000 719 960 298 768
Erik Thorsen (also trough Toleko AS) President & CEO 350 000 500 000 -
John Andersen Jr. Executive Vice President 133 480 100 000 -
Tor-Christian Tuv (trough The Tuv AS) Executive Vice President 130 700 100 000 41 498
Jon André Løkke (trough Ludens AS) Senior Vice President 113 740 100 000 40 790
Bjørn Brenna (trough RBBR Invest AS) Executive Vice President & CFO 32 600 - -
Gøran Bye (trough Schoutbynacht AS) Executive Vice President 29 000 - -
Svànaug Bergland Senior Vice President 10 500 - -

* Adjusted for share to split 1:20 in April 2006
** See note 27 for more information regarding convertible bonds. The bonds have been converted by the following formula: No.
of bonds * USD exchange rate to NOK at conversion date/NOK 255 per REC ASA share (before share split, see note 15). The face
value of each Bond was USD 1. At December 31, 2006, all outstanding bonds had been converted into shares.

Line Geheb and Karen Helene Ulltveit-Moe (and Halvor T. Svartdal to April 20, 2006) are independent of shareholders owning
more than 10 percent of the share capital of REC ASA. The other members represents the main owners of REC; Orkla, Hafslund
and Good Energies. The shares owned by these companies are not included in the table.

17 BORROWINGS

(NOK in thousand)
Non-current 2006 2005
Bank borrowings 1 868 830 1 549 109
EverQ borrowings 34 731 0
Amounts due to Komatsu 468 175 500 075
Finance lease liabilities 126 681 5 429
Total non-current loans, interest bearing 2 498 417 2 054 613

Current
Short term loans, interest bearing 0 149 584
EverQ borrowings 132 764 0
Current portions of financial lease liabilities 13 054 4 646
Total current loans, interest bearing 145 818 154 230

Convertible loans 0 1 711 428

Total interest bearing liabilities 2 644 235 3 920 271

Bank borrowings and the amounts due to Komatsu (see note 30) are unsecured (2005: total secured liabilities NOK 1,106 million).
Total 2006 borrowings include secured liabilities of EverQ of NOK 19 million. In addition, finance lease liabilities are effectively
secured as the rights to the leased asset revert to the lessor in the event of default.
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The future aggregate minimum lease payments under finance leases are as follows
(NOK in thousand) 2006
Not later than 1 year 22 207
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 86 034
Later than 5 years 80 521
Total (gross minimum lease payments) 188 762
Less part that is interest -49 027
Total finance lease obligations in the balance sheet (net present value of minimum lease payments) 139 735

Financial leases are primarily for the SIC plant at Herøya, see note 6.

Maturity profile of REC Group’s interest-bearing liabilities at December 31, 2006
(NOK in thousand)

Total 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 After 2011
Bank borrowings 1 868 830 194 900 320 340 322 140 324 040 707 410 0
Amounts due to Komatsu 468 175 0 0 0 468 175 0 0
Finance leases 139 735 13 054 14 064 14 914 15 049 14 764 67 890
EverQ borrowings 167 495 132 764 34 731 0 0 0 0
Total interest bearing liabilities 2 644 235 340 718 369 135 337 054 807 264 722 174 67 890

The Company entered into a Credit Facilities Agreement for NOK 5,425 million with a syndicate of seven banks dated March 23, 2006.
During 2006, all external debt in subsidiaries, except for a loan of USD 77 million (plus accrued interest) from Komatsu America Cor-
poration to REC Advanced Silicon Materials LLC dated July 29, 2005, was refinanced through the new Credit Facilities Agreement.

The nominal interest rates and currency distribution (notional amounts) at December 31, 2006 were as follows:
Amounts in
in thousand

Interest rate Currency currency Borrower
Bank overdrafts 4.0% NOK 0 REC ASA
Bank borrowings 4.2% NOK 992 565 REC ASA
Bank borrowings 5.7% USD 145 000 REC ASA
EverQ borrowings 6.5% EUR 20 332 EverQ
Amounts due to Komatsu 6.6% USD 74 847 REC ASiMI
Finance leases 6.9% NOK 139 735 REC ScanWafer

For the amounts due to Komatsu, the effective interest rate is 8.1 percent due to fair value adjustment in the purchase price
allocation. Effective interest rates for the other interest bearing liabilities approximate the nominal interest rates.

Of the USD 145 million borrowings by REC ASA, USD 142 million was at December 31, 2006, lent on to the US Subsidiary REC
Silicon Inc. Consequently, REC ASA and the Group are not exposed to a net currency risk related to this loan.

Interest rate sensitivity
The amounts due to Komatsu have fixed interest rate for the term of the Loan. This loan was recognized at the estimated fair
value at the time of acquisition of ASiMI. The bank borrowings had interest rate roll-over on December 29, 2006. The fair value
of the loans approximates the carrying values at end 2006. A one percentage point increase in interest rates would affect the fair
value the amounts due to Komatsu by approximately NOK 14 million at December 31, 2006. A one percentage point increase in
interest rates would, subsequent to next interest rate fixing, increase financial cost of bank borrowings with approximately NOK
20 million. However, a one percentage point increase in interest rate would increase financial income on the cash and cash
equivalents held by approximately NOK 72 million on the basis of the end 2006 balances.

Debt facilities at December 31, 2006
(NOK in thousand) Total debt facilities Available amount
Total REC Group debt facilities 5 675 000 3 725 000

Total debt facilities consist of the NOK 5,425 million Credit Facilities Agreement and a NOK 250 million overdraft facility related
to the Group cash pool system. The amount under the Credit Facilities Agreement is available for investments in the FBR plant in
the USA (NOK 2,200 million); for specified wafer investments (NOK 600 million) and for general corporate purposes (NOK 675
million). The amounts due to Komatsu and the financial leases are not included in total debt facilities.

Loans from related parties
At December 31, 2006, the REC Group had no outstanding loans from related parties.
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18 INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Recognized income tax expense
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005 2004
Current tax expense 301 798 14 572 0
Deferred tax expense / benefit -16 168 11 588 -2 263
Total income tax expense / benefit in the income statement 285 630 26 160 -2 263

Current income tax expense and deferred tax benefit for 2006 include expenses of NOK 6 million and NOK 9 million, respec-
tively, as adjustments of prior periods.

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate
applicable to profits of the consolidated companies as follows:

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005 2004
Profit before tax 743 960 30 083 -8 352
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable
to profits in the respective countries 279 168 29 271 -2 101
Change in tax rate and tax regulation -1 257 0 -1 231
Income not subject to tax -11 031 -1 087 -620
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 6 048 266 1 689
Utilization of previously unrecognized tax losses
or temporary differences -2 693 -2 290 0
Adjustment of prior year’s income taxes 15 395 0 0
Tax charge 285 630 26 160 -2 263
Effective tax rate 38.4% 87.0% 27.1%

The income tax for 2006 is based on a corporate income tax rate of; 28 percent in Norway and Sweden; 35 percent federal tax
rate plus state tax rate of between zero (State of Washington) to 7 percent (Montana) in the USA. The calculated deferred tax
benefit of 28 percent on the reported expenses for the convertible loans combined with higher effective tax rate on profits in the
USA contributed to the high combined effective tax rates for 2005 and 2006. Adjusted for the effects of the convertible loans,
the calculated effective tax rate for 2006 was 33 percent. The effective tax rate in the USA for 2006 was 39 percent.

Estimations of the amounts of deferred tax assets and liabilities that may be recovered or settled within and after 12 months
based on the balance sheet classification as current and non-current are as follows:

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
Deferred tax assets:
Deferred tax asset to be recovered after 12 months 41 355 53 187
Deferred tax asset to be recovered within 12 months 123 166 205 437
Offset deferred tax assets and liabilities -161 779 -70 395
Total 2 742 188 229

Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred tax liability to be settled after 12 months 383 312 174 319
Deferred tax liability to be settled within 12 months 12 181 726
Offset deferred tax assets and liabilities -161 779 -70 395
Total 233 714 104 650
Net deferred tax assets (+) / liabilities (-) -230 972 83 579
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The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (-) and assets (+) recognized by the group, and movements during 2004, 2005
and 2006:

Non current Convertible Employee Tax
(NOK in thousand) assets * bonds benefits Losses Other ** Total
Net deferred tax at January 1, 2004 -12 353 0 3 274 120 412 1 042 112 375
Recognized in income statement -4 303 0 -262 346 6 482 2 263
Recognized to equity 0 0 631 0 0 631
Acquisition of subsidiaries and joint ventures 0 0 0 0 0 0
Translation differences 0 0 247 0 -3 940 -3 693
Net deferred tax at December 31, 2004 -16 656 0 3 890 120 758 3 584 111 576
Effect of transition to IAS 39
- recognized to equity 0 13 977 0 0 0 13 977
Net deferred tax at January 1, 2005 -16 656 13 977 3 890 120 758 3 584 125 553
Recognized in income statement -34 951 130 570 -26 484 -96 187 15 464 -11 588
Recognized to equity 0 0 8 813 0 0 8 813
Acquisition of subsidiaries and joint ventures -108 367 0 48 193 0 20 976 -39 198
Translation differences -4 259 0 511 3 888 -141 -1
Net deferred tax at December 31, 2005 -164 233 144 547 34 923 28 459 39 883 83 579
Recognized in income statement -208 586 226 623 -15 645 -27 817 41 593 16 168
Recognized to equity 0 -371 170 406 0 33 918 -336 846
Acquisition of subsidiaries and joint ventures -10 142 0 0 3 680 0 -6 462
Translation differences 15 770 0 967 -1 688 -2 460 12 589
Net deferred tax at December 31, 2006 -367 191 0 20 651 2 634 112 934 -230 972

* Non current assets are primarily accelerated tax depreciation and temporary differences at acquisition of business.
** Other is primarily current assets and liabilities, including inventories, derivatives and accrued expenses.

Current tax expense in 2006 was NOK 302 million. Net of current tax liability and current tax assets changed from a net liability
of NOK 17 million at December 31, 2005, to NOK 94 million at December 31, 2006. The difference between current tax expense
in the income statement and the change in the balance sheet was due to the tax effect of costs attributable to the equity increase
that was recognized to equity (NOK 42 million) and the fact that REC Silicon Inc. made payments of income taxes during 2006,
including prepayments.

Total income taxes recognized to equity as from January 1, 2004 (minus is reduction to equity)
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005 2004 Total
Effect of transition to IAS 39 at January 1, 2005 0 13 977 0 13 977
Effect of actuarial gains and losses 406 8 813 631 9 850
Effect of convertible bonds -371 170 0 0 -371 170
Effect of cash flow hedge 33 918 0 0 33 918
Total deferred tax -336 846 22 790 631 -313 425
Current tax - effect of costs for capital increase 41 986 0 0 41 986
Total -294 860 22 790 631 -271 439

Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following temporary differences:
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005 2004
Grants for investments 2 968 11 356 12 515
Tax losses 364 178 4 553
Total 3 332 11 534 17 068

At December 31, 2006, accumulated undistributed earnings for REC’s ownership shares in companies in the USA were approxi-
mately NOK 580 million. A 15 percent withholding tax would be NOK 87 million that has not been recognized as a deferred tax
liability. See notes 2.16 and 4.
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19 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS AND EXPENSES

The REC Group provides defined benefit pension plans for all employees in Norway. In addition, the Norwegian government pro-
vides social security payments to all retired Norwegian citizens. Such payments are calculated by reference to a base amount
annually approved by the Norwegian parliament (G-regulation). Benefits are determined based on the employee’s length of ser-
vice and compensation. The cost of pension benefit plans is expensed over the period that the employee renders services and
becomes eligible to receive benefits.

The REC Group offers primarily contribution plans to employees outside of Norway. REC Silicon has an employer-sponsored re-
tirement plan (401 (k)) for employees in the USA, in which the contributions to the plan are determined each year. ASiMI had
defined benefit plans at the time it was acquired in 2005. Subsequent to the acquisition, the ASiMI defined benefit plans were
frozen and no future benefits are accruing to the members of the plans. Previous pension rights remained unchanged. Curtail-
ment gains of NOK 42 million were recognized as part of pension costs in 2005.

Some of the Norwegian subsidiaries have an agreement-based early retirement plan which is a defined benefit multi-employer
plan. For this plan, and the defined benefit multi-employer plans in REC ScanModule AB, the administrators are not able to cal-
culate the REC Group’s share of assets and liabilities and these plans are consequently accounted for as defined contribution
plans. For 2006, pension contributions of NOK 3 million to these plans were included as a pension expense.

The plan assets and the projected benefit obligations (net present value of pension benefits earned at the balance sheet date
based on expected pension qualifying income at the time of retirement) were measured at December 31, each year. Independent
actuaries performed the actuarial calculations. The present value of the projected defined benefit obligation, and the related cur-
rent service cost and past service cost, were measured using the projected unit credit method. The discount rate for the defined
benefit plan in Norway was estimated based on the interest rate on Norwegian government bonds. Average time before the pay-
ments of earned benefits was calculated at 40 years, and the discount rate was projected to a 40-year rate through a reference
to European long-term interest rates, as the longest duration in Norway is 10 years. The assumption for salary increase, increase
in pension payments and G-regulation are tested against historical observations, statements made about the future develop-
ments and the relationship between different assumptions.

Defined benefit plans 2006 2005
(NOK in thousand)
Gross retirement benefit obligations at January 1 266 269 44 025
Acquisition of subsidiaries 0 198 166
Service cost 25 483 20 971
Interest cost on pension obligations 12 337 6 724
Curtailments and settlements 0 -41 634
Actuarial gains and losses 4 991 27 921
Benefits paid and paid-up policies -11 681 -3 118
Translation differences -13 626 13 214
Gross retirement benefit obligations at December 31 283 773 266 269

Fair values of plan assets at January 1 158 155 24 622
Acquisition of subsidiaries 0 102 728
Actual return on plan assets 23 625 8 873
Pensions premium paid 26 303 17 168
Benefits paid and paid-up policies -11 681 -3 118
Translation differences -9 435 7 882
Fair value of plan assets at December 31 186 967 158 155

Funded status at December 31 96 806 108 114
Accrued social security tax 6 425 6 949
Net retirement benefit obligations at December 31 103 231 115 063

Retirement benefit obligations in the balance sheet 2006 2005
Net retirement benefit obligations at January 1 115 063 22 303
Acquisition of subsidiaries 0 95 438
Net periodic benefit costs 30 719 -20 453
Actuarial gains and losses recognized directly in equity -9 807 31 475
Pensions premium paid -26 303 -17 168
Social security tax on pensions premium -2 250 -1 864
Translation differences -4 191 5 332
Net retirement benefit obligations at December 31 103 231 115 063
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The amounts recognized in the income statement are as follows
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005 2004
Current service cost 25 483 20 971 13 633
Interest cost on gross retirement benefit obligations 12 337 6 724 1 445
Expected return on plan assets (net of administration cost) -10 824 -8 400 -1 022
Curtailment gain 0 -41 634 0
Employer’s social security tax on defined benefit costs 3 723 1 886 1 982
Total benefit plans 30 719 -20 453 16 038
Contribution plans including employer’s social security tax 12 267 2 901 2 850
Total pension expenses (see note 23) 42 986 -17 552 18 888

Acquisition of subsidiary in 2005 was the acquisition of ASiMI. Subsequent to the acquisition, the ASiMI schemes were frozen and
no future benefits are accruing to the members of the plans. Previous pension rights remained unchanged. The changes resulted
in a curtailment gain in 2005. Net pension liability for the ASiMI schemes was NOK 33 million and NOK 56 million at the end of
2006 and 2005, respectively. During 2006, a net pension income of NOK 2 million (expected return on plan assets less interest
cost on liabilities) was recognized in the income statement and an actuarial gain of NOK 11 million was recognized to equity. Dur-
ing 2006, employer’s contribution was NOK 6 million, and a translation difference of NOK 4 million was recognized when convert-
ing the USD amounts to NOK.

Cumulative actuarial losses recognized to equity were NOK 25 million before taxes and NOK 15 million after taxes.

Actuarial gain/loss on gross retirement benefit obligations consist of
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005 2004
(a) experience adjustments (the effects of differences between
the previous actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred) 3 467 9 966 -387
(b) the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions 1 524 17 955 5 502
Total actuarial gain/loss on gross retirement benefit obligations 4 991 27 921 5 115

The difference to actuarial gain/loss on net retirement benefit obligations is actuarial gain/loss on plan assets and social security tax.

Distribution of plan assets at fair value at December 31
(NOK in thousand) Total Norwegian Plans ASiMI Plans
Asset category 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
Bonds, commercial paper 63 924 48 630 37 525 23 372 26 399 25 258
Shares 113 571 104 410 13 333 8 236 100 238 96 174
Properties 7 723 4 230 7 723 4 230 0 0
Other 1 749 885 1 749 885 0 0
Total 186 967 158 155 60 330 36 723 126 637 121 432

For the ASiMI plans, the allocation of assets will typically include 50 percent to 80 percent equity securities, and for the Norwe-
gian plans the part invested in equity securities is limited to a maximum of 35 percent.

The principal actuarial assumptions used to determine retirement benefit obligations at December 31
2006 (Norway) 2005 (Norway) 2006 (ASiMI) 2005 (ASiMI)

Discount rate 4.4% 4.0% 5.75% 5.5%
Future salary increases 4.0% 3.5% NA NA
Future pensions increases 4.0% 2.5% NA NA
Future increase in the social security base amount (G) 4.0% 2.5% NA NA
Future turnover 4% < 50 years 2% < 40 years NA NA

2% > 50 years 0% > 40 years

The assumptions used to determine the benefit cost for the year are those determined at the beginning of the year. The expected
long-term return on the Norwegian schemes’ plan assets was 5 percent and 6 percent for calculation of the pension expense for
2006 and 2005, respectively. For the ASiMI schemes it was 8 percent for both years. Expected long-term return is calculated
based on the estimated risk free interest rates at the balance sheet dates adjusted for the expected long-term yield on the dif-
ferent investment categories above the risk free rates, based on historical long-term yields and deducting expected administra-
tion costs.
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The average expected remaining service lives at December 31, were as follows 2006 2005
REC ScanWafer AS: 16 22
REC SiTech AS: 17 18
REC ScanCell AS: 23 23
REC ASA: 20 20
ASiMI: 8 9

Number of employees in the defined benefit plans at December 31, were as follows 2006 2005
REC ScanWafer AS: 511 383
REC SiTech AS: 62 44
REC ScanCell AS: 103 70
REC ASA: 34 21
ASiMI: 691 700

Contributions expected to be paid to the defined benefit plans during 2007 are NOK 23 million for the Norwegian plans and NOK
3 million for ASiMI plans.

The expected contributions to the plans in 2007 and the following estimates are based on facts and circumstances at December
31, 2006. Actual results may materially deviate from these estimates. Changes in other assumptions that are not included in the
table below may also materially affect the liabilities and expenses. These include risk tables for death and disability that are based
on advice in accordance with published statistics and experience in each territory. The expected total pension expense for 2007
for the Norwegian benefit plans, based on the assumptions and members of the plan as of year-end 2006, is NOK 48 million. Of
this, current service cost is estimated to NOK 41 million. Gross pension obligations for the Norwegian benefit plans as of year-
end 2006 were NOK 124 million. The table below shows an estimate of the potential effects (percentage) of changes (percentage
points) in the key assumptions for the defined benefit plans in Norway on gross retirement benefit obligations at December 31,
2006 and current service cost for 2007:

Future Social Annual
Discount salary Security base adjustments

rate increase amount (G) to pensions Turnover
Change in assumptions* +1% -1% +1% -1% +1% -1% +1% -1% +4% -4%
Estimated effect -24% +35% +30% -19% -6% +11% +18% -11% -19% +41%

* Percentage points.

For the ASiMI benefit plans there would be no effect of changes in future salary increase, change in the social security base
amount, annual adjustments to pensions or turnover. A 1 percentage point increase (decrease) in discount rate is estimated to
decrease (increase) the pension obligation by NOK 20 million (25 million) and affect pension cost for 2007 by NOK 0.5 million.

20 PROVISIONS, TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER NON-INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES

(NOK in thousand)
Current 2006 2005
Trade payables 435 701 257 600
Other non-interest bearing liabilities and provisions 224 261 397 710
Total trade payables and other liabilities 659 962 655 310

Non-current 2006 2005
Provisions 24 379 5 844
Other non-interest bearing liabilities * 177 610 229 817
Total provisions & other non-interest bearing liabilities 201 989 235 661

* Other non-interest bearing non-current liabilities consist primarily of a long-term delivery contract that was fair valued in the
purchase price allocation of ASiMI. As it has a negative value it is not classified as an intangible asset. The fair value assessment
is recognized as an operating expense over 5 years from August 2005.
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Specification of provisions
(NOK in thousand) Warranties Other provisions Total
At January 1, 2006 7 664 3 015 10 679
Additional provisions 17 993 2 169 20 162
Unused amounts reversed 0 -2 077 -2 077
Used during the year 0 -425 -425
At December 31, 2006 25 657 2 682 28 339

Distribution of total provisions at December 31, 2006
Provisions current 3 960
Provisions non-current 24 379
Total provisions 28 339

A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount. See note 4 for more information about warranties.

21 GOVERNMENT GRANTS

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
Recognized in balance sheet - grants related to assets 6 126 18 593
Recognized in the income statement - grants related to income 11 046 9 104
Total 17 172 27 697

Grants are recognized in the income statement over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to com-
pensate. Grants related to assets are recognized to the incomes statement at the same time as depreciation of the related assets, and
is not included in the second line in the table above. Grants related to income are grants that compensate period expenses.

A government grant is not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the entity will comply with the conditions attaching
to it, and that the grant will be received. For parts of the government grants related to assets there are some restrictions that
must be complied with.

EverQ was acquired at December 19, 2006. EverQ had recognized significant government grants related to purchase of property,
plant and equipment. EverQ’s grants recognized prior to the acquisition are not included in the table above. Conditions for EverQ
are to keep the fixed asset over a period of 5 years and to achieve an agreed number of employees.

22 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005 2004
Energy and water expenses 350 540 204 558 76 393
Operating, service and maintenance costs 157 522 117 621 66 823
Operating lease expenses 24 384 10 685 6 841
Other 429 332 264 591 142 734
Total other operating expenses 961 778 597 455 292 791

Other consists of consultancy and external personnel, freight, IT, telephone, travel cost, insurance cost, property taxes and
other costs for the operations and administration. It also includes a cost reduction related to amortization of the negative value
of a delivery contract, see note 20.

Auditor’s remuneration expensed in 2006
Audit and audit Other non-audit

(NOK in thousand) related services services
KPMG 6 715 4 612

Amounts are exclusive of VAT.

Audit fees related to the share capital increase recognized directly to equity amounts to NOK 2,191 thousand (before income tax),
and is not included in the amounts above.

Audit and other audit related services contain: Audit work related to Norwegian auditing standard RS 700, to give unqualified
opinion regarding the financial statements; audit work related to tax form signature according to RS 801; audit work related to
confirmations according to RS 802.
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Other non-audit services contain: Technical assistance related to transition to IFRS; work related to purchase price allocations;
other technical assistance during the year related to accounting issues.

23 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005 2004
Payroll 510 422 330 928 205 064
Bonus and sales commissions 49 499 27 045 2 818
Social security tax 87 906 64 584 32 953
Pension costs incl. social security tax 42 986 -17 552 18 888
Other employee related costs -22 863 4 849 2 273
Total employee compensation and benefit expenses 667 950 409 854 261 996

The number of permanent employees during 2006 measured in man-years was 1,347 (2005: 879). Number of permanent em-
ployees at December 31, 2006 was 1,385 (2005: 1,101). In addition EverQ had 460 employees at December 31, 2006.

Included in other employee related costs for 2006 is a cost reduction of almost NOK 50 million before tax, due to the termination
of part of employee benefit plans in REC Advanced Silicon Materials LLC (ASiMI). The termination had no cash effect. Included in
pension costs for 2005 is a curtailment gain of NOK 42 million.

24 FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005 2004
Share of loss of associates 18 330 7 052 1 578
Interest income -164 173 -6 261 -1 440
Interest expenses
-Convertible bond 20 971 76 789 20 529
-Other borrowings 146 556 75 779 26 936

Capitalization of borrowing cost -33 799 -6 996 -1 391
Impairment of financial assets 0 0 6 715
Other financial expenses 14 772 0 0
Total financial expenses 148 500 145 572 52 789

Total exchange differences 50 232 -68 036 1 372
Net gain/loss derivatives -18 640 0 0
Fair value & foreign exchange effect on convertible loans (see note 27) 796 219 493 037 -6 123
Net financial items 830 468 571 364 48 176

Borrowing costs included in the cost of qualifying assets during 2006 was primarily related to REC Silicon (USA) at an effective
interest rate of approximately 7 percent and REC Wafer (Norway) at an effective interest rate of approximately 4 percent.

25 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit/loss attributable to equity holders of the company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, excluding treasury shares (see note 15).

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005* 2004*
Profit/loss attributable to equity holders of the company 458 330 3 923 -6 089
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (in thousand) 442 939 301 820 254 860
Basic earnings/loss per share (NOK per share) 1.03 0.01 -0.02
* Adjusted for share split 1:20 in April 2006.
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Diluted
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The convertible debt is assumed to have been converted into ordinary shares
and the net profit is adjusted to eliminate change in fair value and interest expenses less the tax effect. The calculation shows that
the conversion of the convertible debt is not dilutive given the significant fair value adjustment included in determining profit for
the year, as it does not decrease basic earnings per share.

(NOK per share) 2006 2005* 2004*
Diluted earnings per share 1.03 0.01 -0.02
* Adjusted for share split 1:20 in April 2006.

26 DIVIDENDS PER SHARE

Due to the growth strategy and aggressive expansion plans the Board believes that the funds can be put into best use within the
company, and therefore do not propose any dividends to be paid out to the Shareholders for 2006, as in 2005 and 2004.

27 CONVERTIBLE LOANS

EUR 31 million convertible loan
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
Carrying amount of liability at January 1 611 772 255 393
Fair value change in equity January 1, 2005 (implementation of IAS 39)* 0 49 918
Change in fair value recognized in the income statement* 347 645 306 461
Converted to equity in the period * -959 417 0
Carrying amount of liability at December 31 0 611 772

USD 140 million convertible loan
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
Carrying amount of liability at January 1 1 099 656 0
Carrying amount of liability on issue 0 913 080
Change in fair value recognized in the income statement * 448 574 186 576
Converted to equity in the period * -1 548 230 0
Carrying amount of liability at December 31 0 1 099 656
Total 0 1 711 428

* Amounts before tax.

During 2006, the convertible loans have been fully converted into shares in REC ASA, increasing equity.

The Company issued a convertible EUR loan on September 24, 2003, amounting to EUR 31 million with an interest rate of 7.9
percent p.a. The loan holders had rights to convert their loan in part or as a whole at any given time before March 31, 2006 at NOK
118 per share (corresponding to NOK 5.9 per share after the April 2006 1:20 share split). All bondholders exercised their right to
convert the loan on March 31, 2006. The conversion resulted in issuance of 43,405,260 new shares adjusted for the 1:20 share
split.

The company entered into a second convertible loan agreement on July 13, 2005, for USD 140 million with an interest rate of 8
percent p.a. and a conversion right equal to NOK 255 per share (corresponding to NOK 12.75 per share after the share split). The
USD loan could be converted to shares on four defined dates during 2006, the latest conversion date being on December 1. All
bond holders exercised their right to convert the loan during 2006, primarily on March 13. The conversion resulted in issuance of
73,447,682 new shares adjusted for the share split.

As NOK is the functional currency of REC ASA, and both convertible loans were denominated in foreign currencies, the loans have
been accounted for as financial liabilities. IAS 39 Financial Instruments requires that the net proceeds from the issue of the con-
vertible loan notes are split between the liability element (the base loan) and an embedded derivative (the option to convert into
shares). The embedded derivative represents the fair value of the embedded option to convert the liability into equity of the
group. Normally this split is made at inception with the value of the embedded derivative being recorded to equity. However, as
the convertible loans were denominated in foreign currencies, following IFRIC guidance, the embedded derivative has been re-
corded as a liability. This also means that the fair value of the embedded derivative has been estimated at each reporting date,
with the changes in fair value being recognized in the income statement.
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Before the REC Group was listed on Oslo stock exchange in May 2006, the fair value of the embedded derivatives was calculated
by independent brokers. The share price was estimated as follows: the expected share price on the relevant dates was estimated
based on historical transactions for the Company shares, modified by a peer group of comparative companies that are listed on
stock exchanges. This share price was used as an input to the Black-Scholes formula that estimates the expected share price at
the date of conversion. In addition to the share price, the model inputs were the exercise prices in the bonds, expected volatility
of the Company share price over the bond’s lifetime and a risk free interest rate. Volatility was based on the peer group of com-
parative companies. The estimate of fair value took into account foreign exchange rates.

At the date of issue of the convertible loans, the ‘base loan’ element was recorded at a value that was lower than the amount that
was due to be repaid on maturity date. The loans accreted to the full value over the life of the loan based on the effective interest
rate method, adjusted to reflect the changes in foreign exchange rates. This accretion has been included within the fair value
change recorded in the income statement.

28 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005 2004
Research and development expenses 82 989 50 414 60 166

The research and development activities consist of continuous development of current production processes and equipment as
well as next generation production technologies designed to reduce silicon cost, enhance quality while reducing wafer thickness,
improve cell and module efficiency, and reduce production cost throughout the value chain.

29 COMMITMENTS, GUARANTEES AND PLEDGES

The purchase obligation amounts consist of items for which the REC Group is contractually obligated to purchase from a third party
at December 31, 2006. These amounts only constitute the contracted minimum portion of the REC Group’s expected future costs.
Operating lease payments are shown in a separate table below. Repayment of debt, including finance leases, is shown in note 17.

The amounts presented in the table will not provide a reliable indication of the REC Group’s expected future cash outflows on a
stand-alone basis. For the purpose of identifying and accumulating purchase obligations, the REC Group has included all con-
tracts that are legally binding and specify all significant terms, including fixed or minimum amounts or quantity to be purchased
and the approximate timing of the transaction. For those contracts involving a fixed or minimum quantity but variable pricing, the
REC Group has estimated the contractual obligation based on its best estimate of pricing that will be in effect at the time the
obligation is incurred.

Contractual payment obligations at December 31, 2006
Distribution of payments

(NOK in thousand) Total* 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 After 2011
Purchase of goods and services 1 659 864 434 957 174 491 171 181 168 844 114 855 595 536
Capex - property, plant and equipment 1 520 334 1 431 767 88 567 0 0 0 0
Total ** 3 180 198 1 866 724 263 058 171 181 168 844 114 855 595 536

* Payments are undiscounted.
** Total commitments include NOK 300 million for the REC Group’s 33.33 percent of EverQ’s total commitments for 2007, of which NOK 180 million relate
to capital expenditure. Amounts do not include EverQ’s committed purchases from the REC Group.

The purchase of goods and services is primarily related to commodity purchase contracts in REC Silicon, capacity contracts in REC
Silicon and REC Wafer and minimum future payments of property taxes in REC Silicon.

Commodity contracts are agreements for the delivery of energy and natural gas along with chemicals, other specialty gases, and
raw materials utilized in the REC Group’s manufacturing process.

Capacity contracts are agreements that provide rights to the output of a specified facility. At the end of 2006, REC Silicon entered
into a capacity contract with total contractual future payments of NOK 290 million related to the purchase of certain gases that
will be utilized in its manufacturing process. The agreement provides REC Silicon with the right to the output of a specific facility,
which is being constructed to serve the production needs associated with the Moses Lake plant expansion. These obligations are
included in the table above. At year-end 2006, the company was not able to determine the respective fair values of the lease and
commodity output elements of the contract, and was not able to separate these elements in order to evaluate the arrangement
and determine if it is in substance an operating or finance lease. The facility is currently under construction and the assets are not
expected to be placed in service or fully operational before November 1, 2007.
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The estimated fair value of the lease part of a capacity contract in REC Wafer is reported as lease, primarily finance lease. The
related facility and equipment was put into operation at the end of 2006. The estimated fair values of the goods and services
(non-lease elements) are included in the table above. The payment for the non-lease elements may change somewhat, among
other things according to the output and efficiency of the production process.

Certain property tax payments in REC Silicon are included whereby the company operates one of its facilities in an area designated
by the taxing authorities as a special industrial financing district. The payments associated with these property taxes are expected
to be made through the period ending December 31, 2022. The total undiscounted amount of these payments is NOK 220 million.

Capex is capital expenditure; purchase of assets that are to be capitalized and used for more than one period. Capex - property,
plant and equipment at December 31, 2006, was primarily related to the expansion project in the USA, the cell production in
Norway and the second EverQ plant in Germany (the REC Group’s 33.33 percent share).

Operating leases
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows;
(NOK in thousand) At December 31, 2006
Not later than 1 year 29 611
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 55 689
Later than 5 years 19 801
Total 105 101

Contractual sales agreements
For 2007, most of the production from REC Wafer and REC Silicon is to be used in the REC Group’s own production or contracted
to be sold externally. For years beyond 2007, contracted sales and planned increase in own use depends partially on success-
fully building up of new capacity that has been decided on. For the four year period 2007 to 2010, aggregate external and inter-
nal sales in REC Wafer covers approximately 80 percent of the aggregated existing production volume and approved expansions.
The same amount for REC Silicon is close to 90 percent. Contracted sales from REC Silicon outside the REC Group’s own wafer
production is primarily electronic grade contracts and to the jointly controlled entity EverQ.

Guarantees
REC ASA has provided a guarantee limited to NOK 74 million for the EverQ bank financing. In addition, REC had shareholder’s
loans to EverQ totaling EUR 16 million (NOK 132 million) at December 31, 2006.

Pledges
REC Silicon has through an external bank issued letters of credit available to provide credit enhancement and has provided liquid-
ity support for certain commodity purchase agreements as well as other activities related to capital expansions and investments.
REC Solar Grade Silicon LLC has pledged inventory and receivables in relation to a USD 8 million Letter of Credit Facility under
which letters of credit for USD 6 million have been issued. Carrying value of total inventory and receivables of REC Silicon was USD
63 million at December 31, 2006. REC Silicon Inc has pledged USD 22.7 million of cash, (reported as part of the restricted cash in
note 14) for certain property tax payment described above as part of contractual payment obligations. A government grant with
unamortized value of SEK 4 million is secured by the total assets of REC ScanModule AB. Carrying value of total assets of REC
ScanModule AB was SEK 403 million at December 31, 2006. EverQ has pledged EUR 7.5 million of their fixed assets (REC’s 33.33
percent share) at December 31, 2006 for bank borrowings of EUR 2.3 million (the REC Group’s 33.33 percent share).

30 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

There were no business combinations in 2006.

For information regarding the acquisition of the jointly controlled entity EverQ in 2006, see note 9.

On August 1, 2005, the REC Group acquired a 100 percent interest in Advanced Silicon Materials LLC (“ASiMI”), from Komatsu
Ltd. (“Komatsu”). While Komatsu retains a 25 percent minority interest in ASiMI through 2010, it does not retain any voting rights
or rights to dividends. It receives instead a fixed periodic payment in respect of its holdings. REC accounts for Komatsu’s minor-
ity interest in ASiMI as a non-current liability, see note 17.

ASiMI’s facilities are located in Butte, Montana. ASiMI contributed revenues of NOK 564 million and profit before tax of NOK 214
million to the REC Group for the period from August 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005. At the same date, the REC Group acquired
the remaining 30 percent of the share capital of Solar Grade Silicon LLC (SGS), making it a 100 percent subsidiary. SGS was pro-
portionately consolidated until it became a 100 percent owned subsidiary. As SGS became a subsidiary, assets and liabilities
previously recorded had to be restated to fair value with an adjustment to equity of NOK 134 million.
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Details of net assets acquired and goodwill related to the 2005 purchase of ASiMI and SGS are as follows
(NOK in thousand)
Purchase consideration:
– Cash paid 1 931 013
– Direct costs relating to the acquisition 22 918
Total purchase consideration 1 953 931
Increased values in the business combination recorded to equity 134 117
Estimated fair value of net assets acquired 1 876 910
Goodwill (see note 7) 211 138

The goodwill is attributable to the expected profitability of the acquired business and the significant planned synergies.

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows Estimated fair Acquiree’s
(NOK in thousand) value carrying amount
Cash and cash equivalents 230 925 230 925
Property, plant and equipment 2 182 527 1 115 688
Intangible assets 232 497 65 043
Inventories 125 864 125 864
Receivables 85 287 88 683
Payables -153 223 -153 223
Retirement benefit obligations (see note 19) -95 438 -95 438
Other employee benefits -30 517 -30 517
Negative value delivery contract (see note 20) -189 837 0
Borrowings (see note 17)* -471 977 -497 483
Net deferred tax liability -39 198 0
Net assets acquired 1 876 910 849 542

*Primarily amounts due to Komatsu. The difference to the amounts shown in note 17 is primarily effects of the USD/NOK exchange rates.

The purchase price allocation (PPA) was finalized in 2006. According to IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the balance sheet amounts
at the time of the acquisition were adjusted to reflect the effects of the final PPA. Due to the final PPA, total assets increased by
approximately NOK 270 million at the time of acquisition (difference to amount in note 2.23 is currency effects), primarily due to
recognition of intangible assets and goodwill of NOK 84 million. Liabilities increased primarily due to recognition of negative
value of a delivery contract and deferred tax liabilities. Equity was reduced by NOK 26 million due to the revaluation of net assets
for the 70 percent of SGS that REC owned prior to the business combination. The PPA was finalized at July 1, 2006. The net ef-
fect on income of the final PPA for the period August 1, 2005 to July 1, 2006 was insignificant, and was recognized in one line
item in the income statement for 2006.

Intangible assets at acquisition included customer relationships, Silane and Fluid Bed Reactor technology, see note 7. Negative
value on a long-term delivery contract is recognized to income over a period of 5 years, see note 20.

In addition to the above, on July 1, 2005, the REC Group acquired the remaining 88 percent of SiTech AS, a monocrystalline
ingot producer located in Glomfjord next to the existing REC Wafer plant, making it a 100 percent subsidiary. Out of the total
consideration paid for this acquisition of NOK 24,570 thousand, NOK 5,460 thousand was paid in cash. On July 8, 2005, the
Company issued 26,000 and 50,440 new shares (not adjusted for the 2006 share split) to Hafslund Venture and Good Energies
Investments, respectively, at a price of NOK 250 per share for total non-cash considerations settlement for SiTech AS. Goodwill
arising on this acquisition was NOK 12 million. Remaining minor acquisitions, considerations paid in cash, amounts to NOK 10
million. Estimated fair value of property, plant and equipment related to these acquisitions amounts to NOK 35,503 thousand.

If the acquisitions described above had occurred at January 1, 2005, the REC Group revenues would have been NOK 3,220 mil-
lion and profit for the year would have been NOK 44 million. See pro forma information related to the ASiMI purchase in note 31.
In connection with the acquisitions, the REC Group incurred termination costs of NOK 7 million and recognized a pension settle-
ment benefit of NOK 42 million, both of which were reflected in the 2005 income statement. For the acquisitions described above,
the cash payments were as follows:

(NOK in thousand) 2005
Purchase consideration settled in cash 1 969 585
Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiaries acquired -234 899
Cash payment on purchase of subsidiaries, net of cash purchased 1 734 686
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31 PRO FORMA (UNAUDITED)

The following unaudited pro forma financial information for the year ended December 31, 2005 is prepared to illustrate the effect
on the REC Group results due to the acquisition of ASiMI in 2005, as if the transactions had occurred at January 1, 2005.

This information does not represent the company’s actual financial position or results, and is not necessarily indicative of the
results that would have been attained if the acquisition had occurred at January 1, 2005.

The acquisitions of the remaining 30 percent interest in Solar Grade Silicon LLC on August 1, 2005 and the remaining 88 percent
interest in SiTech AS on July 1, 2005, are not considered to be significant and therefore adjustments have not been made to
reflect the impact of these acquisitions.

The pro forma financial information below has been prepared based on the following assumptions and adjustments:

• The results of ASiMI from August 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005 are already included within the IFRS group income statement.
Therefore, pro forma adjustments are required to include the results of ASiMI from January 1, 2005 to July 31, 2005.

• Earnings before financial items, taxes, depreciation and amortization have been increased to include 7 months of earnings from
January 1, 2005 to July 31, 2005.

• Transactions within the REC Group have been eliminated on a 100 percent basis throughout the entire period.
• Depreciation and amortization has been recalculated by class of asset giving a combined 7 month charge of NOK 84 million.
• The acquisition was financed with a convertible loan from existing shareholder of USD 140 million and senior debt from DnB

NOR and ABN Amro of USD 170 million. Average interest rates for the two loans combined have been calculated at 6.08 per-
cent. The total interest expense calculated for the 7 months of 2005, as if the non-current loans were in place at January 1,
2005, on the same interest terms, is NOK 88 million.

• The tax rate used is 34 percent, which represented the local tax rate faced by REC Silicon related to ASiMI in this period and is
estimated to be NOK 15 million for 7 months in 2005.

• Exchange rate for USD to NOK has been assumed at year end rate on all adjustments.
• The pro forma income statement has not been adjusted for the impact of termination cost of NOK 7 million, and pension settle-

ment gain of NOK 42 million following the acquisition of ASiMI.

Pro forma Group Income statement (condensed) Year Pro forma Year 2005
(NOK in thousand) 2005 adjustment pro forma
Total revenues 2 453 916 675 256 3 129 172
Earnings before interest taxes, depreciation and amortization 830 181 216 991 1 047 172
Earnings before interest and taxes 601 447 132 916 734 363
Profit/(loss) before tax 30 083 44 993 75 076
Profit/(loss) before the year 3 923 29 695 33 618

Reported year 2005 Pro forma effect Pro forma year 2005
Basic earnings per share (NOK per share)* 0.01 0.10 0.11
* Adjusted for the share split 1:20 in April 2006.

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The group has related party relationships with its subsidiaries that are consolidated and transactions are eliminated, associates,
joint ventures and with its Group management and Board of Directors and principle shareholders.

The principle shareholders in REC ASA, that had significant influence over the REC Group were Good Energies Investments B.V.
(December, 31, 2006: 34.4 percent, 2005: 39.6 percent), Elkem AS and Orkla ASA (December, 31, 2006: 27.5 percent, 2005:
24.6 percent) and Hafslund Venture AS (December, 31, 2006: 21.3 percent, 2005: 23.7 percent). The ultimate parent companies
of theses shareholders were: Good Energies Investment BV was owned by COFRA Holding Aktiengesellschaft (Switzerland); Elkem
AS was owned by Orkla ASA (Norway); and Hafslund Venture AS was owned by Hafslund ASA (Norway). In 2006, REC had insig-
nificant purchase/sales from/to related parties, in the normal course of business.

i) Key management compensation etc.
Group management and Board of Directors’ compensation, ownership of REC ASA shares and loan agreements are shown in note 16.
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ii) Loans from related parties
REC ASA had issued two convertible loans. During 2006 these loans were converted to equity. See Note 27 for more information
about these loans and note 24 for interest on these loans.

The first convertible loan agreement was entered into on September 24, 2003, amounting to EUR 31 million. The REC Group’s
principal shareholders were the sole takers of this facility with the following split: Good Energies Investments B.V. (19.4 percent),
Elkem AS (48.4 percent) and Hafslund Venture AS (32.2 percent). During 2006, this loan was converted in full.

The second convertible loan agreement was entered into on July 13, 2005, for USD 140 million. The REC Group’s principal share-
holders were the major providers of this facility with the following split: Good Energies Investments B.V. (38.1 percent), Elkem AS
(27.2 percent) and Hafslund Venture AS (25.3 percent), the remaining part (9.4 percent) was largely held by the remaining
smaller shareholders. This included Group management and Directors, see note 16. During 2006, this loan was converted in
full.

As part of the financing of the acquisition of ASiMI in 2005, the REC Group entered into a USD 140 million 12 percent term loan
facility that was to mature on December 1, 2006. Under this loan agreement between the REC Group and Good Energies Invest-
ments, Elkem and Hafslund Venture dated July 14, 2005 the REC Group pledged its shares of its subsidiary REC Silicon Inc as
security. The lenders under the term loan facility were paid a commitment fee in the amount of 1.25 percent of the aggregate
principal amount of the loan. This loan was prepaid in full on October 27, 2005 and the lenders issued releases for the pledged
stock. The loan was replaced by a term loan and revolving credit facility entered into with external banks.

iii) Acquisitions from Related Parties
In May 2005, REC ScanWafer acquired NorFurnace AS from, among others, Good Energies Investments and Scatec AS. In July
2005, the REC Group acquired the remaining 88 percent of SiTech from, among others, Good Energies Investments, Hafslund
Venture, Scatec AS and Hektor AS. Alf Bjørseth, the former CEO of the REC Group, and Reidar Langmo, a member of the REC
Group management, had significant ownership interests in Scatec AS at the time of these sales. Hektor AS is owned by Halvor
Svartdal, who at the time of these sales was a member of REC ASA’s Board of Directors.

iv) Transactions with EverQ GmbH
EverQ became a jointly controlled entity at December 19, 2006. The REC Group has entered into a long-term delivery contract
of polysilicon to EverQ. During 2006, the REC Group sold goods and services to EverQ for NOK 28 million, and had receivables on
EverQ related to these deliveries of NOK 3 million at December 31, 2006. REC ASA has provided a guarantee limited to NOK 74
million on behalf of EverQ for EverQ’s bank borrowings. At December 31, 2006, REC ASA had outstanding loans to EverQ of NOK
132 million, and had accrued interest of NOK 2 million on these loans.

33 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

No events after the balance sheet date December 31, 2006 that require disclosure have been identified.
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BALANCE SHEET (NGAAP)
REC ASA

AT DECEMBER 31 (NOK IN THOUSAND) Notes 2006 2005

ASSETS

Non current assets

Deferred tax asset I 0 13 948

Machinery and equipment C 9 130 0

Fixtures and fittings, tools, office machinery and similar assets C 502 431

Property, plant and equipment 9 632 431

Shares in subsidiaries G 1 187 091 1 030 316

Non current interest bearing receivables on subsidiaries 1 776 674 1 136 810

Shares in jointly controlled entity/associate H 420 590 66 802

Non current interest bearing receivables on jointly controlled entity 11 121 0

Other investments H 860 37 165

Investments 3 396 336 2 271 093

Total non current assets 3 405 968 2 285 472

Current assets

Current interest bearing receivables on jointly controlled entity 121 099 0

Interest bearing overdraft facilities for subsidiaries 709 942 0

Trade receivables on subsidiaries 881 16 905

Trade receivables on others 36 541

Receivables on group contributions from subsidiaries 410 484 147 898

Other receivables on subsidiaries 112 683 37 792

Other receivables on jointly controlled entity/associate 2 444 0

Accrued revenues on subsidiaries 9 367 0

Other receivables 5 177 2 536

Derivatives K 28 233 0

Current receivables 1 400 346 205 672

Cash and cash equivalents B 6 703 274 59 366

Total current assets 8 103 620 265 038

Total assets 11 509 588 2 550 511
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AT DECEMBER 31 (NOK IN THOUSAND) Notes 2006 2005

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital J 494 172 304 319

Capital not registered J 13 129 0

Own shares J 0 -225

Share premium reserve J 8 253 714 453 248

Contributed capital J 283 056 283 056

Paid in capital 9 044 071 1 040 398

Other equity and retained earnings J 460 752 104 943

Total shareholders’ equity 9 504 823 1 145 341

Non current liabilities

Interest bearing liabilities to financial institutions F 1 876 535 0

Retirement benefit obligations D 10 012 4 636

Deferred tax liabilities I 5 527 0

Total non current liabilities 1 892 074 4 636

Current liabilities

Interest bearing liabilities to financial institutions 0 3 843

Interest bearing convertible loans F 0 1 195 153

Trade payables to subsidiaries 1 489 0

Trade payables to others 4 283 1 391

Current tax liabilities I 75 605 0

Social security, VAT and other taxes 1 391 2 251

Liabilities to subsidiaries 8 384 147 160

Liabilities to jointly controlled entity 2 104 0

Accrued expenses 16 256 0

Other current liabilities 3 179 50 736

Total current liabilities 112 691 1 400 534

Total liabilities 2 004 765 1 405 170

Total equity and liabilities 11 509 588 2 550 511

BALANCE SHEET (NGAAP)
REC ASA

Høvik, March 21, 2007

Tore Schiøtz
Chairman of the Board

Marcel Egmond Brenninkmeijer
Member of the Board

Ole Enger
Member of the Board

Roar Engeland
Member of the Board

Susanne Elise Munch Thore
Member of the Board

Line Geheb
Member of the Board

Karen Helene Ulltveit-Moe
Member of the Board

Erik Thorsen
President and CEO
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INCOME STATEMENT (NGAAP)
REC ASA

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 (NOK IN THOUSAND) Notes 2006 2005 2004

Revenues from subsidiaries 12 309 6 875 4 900

Revenues from others 0 1 104 1 365

Total revenues 12 309 7 979 6 265

Purchase of goods 0 -117 -2

Employee benefit expense D -51 447 -31 460 -14 554

Depreciation C -481 -168 -242

Other operating expenses E -41 077 -20 148 -13 796

Operating loss (EBIT) -80 696 -43 914 -22 329

Group contributions 410 484 147 898 0

Interest received from subsidiaries/joint ventures 153 490 60 903 1 860

Interest income on investment funds 104 058 0 0

Other interest income 35 074 2 152 1 075

Impairment of financial assets 0 0 -455

Interest expenses on convertible bonds -20 971 -76 789 -20 529

Other interest expenses -81 812 -113 0

Currency gain/loss on convertible bonds 11 738 -26 680 6 123

Other currency gains/losses -64 630 40 402 -1 571

Net gains on derivatives K 28 233 0 0

Profit/loss before taxes 494 968 103 859 -35 826

Income tax expense/benefit I -138 535 -29 148 13 207

Profit/loss for the year 356 433 74 711 -22 619

Profit/loss for the year is distributed as follows:

Other equity J 356 433 74 711 -22 619

Total distributed 356 433 74 711 -22 619
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT (NGAAP)
REC ASA

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 (NOK IN THOUSAND) Notes 2006 2005 2004

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit/loss before tax 494 968 103 859 -35 826

Taxes paid 0 0 0

Depreciation and amortization 481 168 242

Impairment financial assets 0 0 455

Changes in trade receivables -75 854 -15 176 4 711

Changes in trade payables -164 209 -2 560 1 903

Effects of group contributions -410 484 -147 898 0

Effects of exchange differences 59 000 26 680 0

Changes in other accrued income and expenditure 3 855 10 894 12 727

Net cash flow from operating activities -92 243 -24 033 -15 788

Cash flow from investing activities

Cash payment for shares -319 567 -130 846 -127 301

Proceeds from finance receivables 254 347 -1 010 091 0

Purchase of equipment -9 682 -355 -113

Net cash flow from investing activities -74 902 -1 141 292 -127 414

Cash flow from financing activities

Increase in current and non-current loans 33 382 913 080 73 274

Repayment of current and non-current loans 0 0 -1 830

Proceeds from issuance of shares, net of costs paid 6 777 671 34 000 308 874

Net cash flow from financing activities 6 811 053 947 080 380 318

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 6 643 908 -218 245 237 116

Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 B 59 366 277 611 40 495

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 B 6 703 274 59 366 277 611
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REC ASA

A SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND GENERAL

REC ASA is a holding company and contains parts of the Group Management, corporate functions, research and development,
business development and the REC Group’s inhouse bank. These activities were scaled up during 2006 due to increased activity
and complexity of the REC Group, including listing on the Oslo Stock Exchange. In May 2006, REC ASA carried out a capital in-
crease in connection with the Initial Public Offering and listing on the Oslo Stock Exchange. During 2006, all convertible loans
were converted to equity, primarily in March. In March 2006, REC ASA made a refinancing of the REC Group. From 2006, REC ASA
conducts the main part of the external debt financing in the REC Group and provides loan to, and receives placements of liquid
assets from Group companies. See note 17 to the consolidated financial statements. Revenues comprise sale of Group services to
REC subsidiaries, primarily on a cost plus basis.

The financial statements of REC ASA have been prepared in compliance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and Norwegian gener-
ally accepted accounting principles in effect at December 31, 2006. The functional and reporting currency of REC ASA is Norwe-
gian Krone (NOK). The consolidated financial statement of the REC Group has been prepared in accordance with IFRS. However,
except as stated, REC ASA’s accounting principles are primarily similar to the accounting principles for the REC Group, as de-
scribed in the consolidated financial statements. Where the notes for the parent company are substantially different from the
notes for the Group, these are shown below. Otherwise, refer to the notes to the consolidated financial statements for the
Group.

The main difference to the accounting principles for the REC Group is that the convertible loans have not been fair valued in REC
ASA’s financial statements. In the consolidated financial statements, the foreign exchange and fair value adjustments have been
expensed and, at conversion of the loans, these effects have been recognized as an increase in equity. In REC ASA’s financial
statements, the foreign exchange effect has been included, but not the fair value adjustments. Group contributions and dividends
that are subject to approval by the Annual General Meetings are for the consolidated accounts recognized at time of approval. For
REC ASA’s financial statements, these are recognized in the fiscal year it relates to. For REC ASA this is relevant for Group con-
tributions receivable from subsidiaries. In REC ASA’s financial statements, subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates
are carried at the lower of cost and estimated fair value. In the consolidated accounts, these are consolidated, proportionately
consolidated and accounted for using the equity method, respectively.

B CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
Bank deposits 1 099 216 59 366
Money market funds 5 604 058 0
Total cash and cash equivalents 6 703 274 59 366

During 2006, REC ASA established a guarantee through Nordea Bank covering tax deduction for employees.

Restricted cash at December 31, 2006 was NOK 13 million related to payments from REC employees in the USA for REC ASA
shares to be issued in 2007. For debt facilities, see note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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C PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Office 2006 2005
(NOK in thousand) License equipment Cars Equipment Total Total
Cost at January 1 211 908 210 0 1 329 974
Additions 0 348 0 9 333 9 681 355
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cost at December 31 211 1 256 210 9 333 11 010 1 329
Accumulated depreciation at December 31 211 754 210 203 1 378 898
Carrying value at December 31 0 502 0 9 130 9 632 431

Depreciation for the year 59 219 0 203 481 168

Estimated useful life, years Up to 3 Up to 3 Up to 3 Up to 5
Depreciation plan Straight line Straight line Straight line Straight line

D EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Employee benefit expenses
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005 2004
Payroll 40 660 26 752 10 994
Social security tax 5 582 2 460 1 680
Pension expense incl. social security tax 3 907 1 872 1 727
Other employee related costs 1 298 376 153
Employee benefit expenses 51 447 31 460 14 554

The number of employees measured in man-years was 29 during 2006.

Total loans to employees in REC ASA were NOK 2,103 thousand. For compensation, loans and shareholdings for the Group
management and Board of Directors see note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pension expense
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005 2004
Service cost 3 024 1 565 1 473
Interest cost 321 218 143
Expected return on plan assets (incl. administrative expense) -211 -142 -102
Social security tax 442 231 213
Total expense for benefit plans 3 576 1 872 1 727
Expense for contribution plans 331 0 0
Total pension expense 3 907 1 872 1 727

Accumulated actuarial gains and losses recognized directly to equity at December 31
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
Gross before tax 7 906 3 579
Less tax -2 214 -1 002
Total recognized directly to equity 5 692 2 577

Retirement benefit obligations in the balance sheet at December 31
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
Accumulated benefit obligations (excluding future salary increases) 8 191 5 778
Effect of expected future salary increase 6 650 2 237
Projected benefit obligations 14 841 8 015
Fair value of plan assets -6 066 -3 952
Funded status 8 775 4 063
Accrued social security tax 1 237 573
Retirement benefit obligations 10 012 4 636

REC ASA’s pension plan fulfills the requirements according to the Norwegian law: “Lov om obligatorisk tjenestepensjon”. For in-
formation on assumptions used and description of the pension plan, see note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.



R
EC
A
N
N
U
A
L
R
EP
O
R
T

2
0
0
6

112

E OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Specification of other operating expenses
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005 2004
Operating lease expenses 3 128 1 836 1 451
Audit remuneration 4 903 2 949 1 338
Consultancy fees 18 901 8 905 7 070
Travel costs 4 610 2 305 1 824
Marketing, representation, meeting and conference expenses 3 199 1 684 509
Insurance 858 192 28
Other office expenses 5 478 1 908 1 517
Loss on receivables 0 369 59
Total other operating expenses 41 077 20 148 13 796

Audit remuneration
(NOK in thousand) 2006
Audit 2 441
Audit related services 54
Tax related services 82
Other services 2 326
Total auditor’s remuneration expensed in 2006 4 903

Amounts are exclusive of VAT.

Audit fees related to the share capital increase recognized directly to equity amounts to NOK 2,191 thousand (before income tax),
and are not included in the amounts above. For description of the services, see note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Future payment obligations
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows
(NOK in thousand) 2006
Not later than 1 year 4 109
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 25 132
Later than 5 years 5 259
Total 34 500

In addition, REC ASA had committed future payments under service contracts of NOK 2,759 thousand at December 31, 2006.

F LIABILITIES TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND CONVERTIBLE LOANS

For information regarding liabilities to financial institutions and convertible bonds, see notes 17 and 27 to the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

G SHARES IN SUBSIDIARIES AT DECEMBER 31, 2006

Company (NOK in thousand) Ownership/ voting share Business office Carrying value
REC Silicon AS 100,0% Bærum 223 132
REC ScanWafer AS 100,0% Bærum 743 524
REC Solar AS 100,0% Bærum 193 365
REC SiTech AS 100,0% Meløy 27 070
Total 1 187 091

Except for REC SiTech AS, the subsidiaries own shares in other subsidiaries as described in their respective financial state-
ments.
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H JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY, ASSOCIATE AND OTHER INVESTMENTS

Shares in jointly controlled entity and associate at December 31, 2006

(NOK in thousand) Ownership/ voting share Acquisition cost Carrying value
EverQ GmbH, Thalheim, Germany 33.33% 342 016 342 016
CSG Solar AG, Thalheim, Germany 21.71% 78 574 78 574
Total 420 590 420 590

During 2006, REC ASA recognized interest income of NOK 2,413 thousand from EverQ and had invoiced expenses of NOK 40
thousand to CSG Solar. At December 31, 2006, REC ASA had provided a guarantee limited to NOK 74 million for EverQ’s bank
financing. For more information, see notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other investments
During 2006, EverQ GmbH, Thalheim, Germany became a jointly controlled entity.

I INCOME TAXES

Current tax:
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005 2004
Profit before taxes 494 968 103 859 -35 826
Costs for the capital increase, recognized to equity -149 950 0 0
Permanent differences -201 242 596
Changes in temporary differences -29 238 -637 426
Utilized loss carried forward -45 560 -103 464 0
Basis for current tax 270 019 0 -34 804
Current tax liability at December 31 (28%) 75 605 0 0

28% tax of costs for the capital increase, recognized to equity 41 986 0 0
Total current tax expense for the year 117 591 0 0
Deferred tax expense / benefit 20 944 29 148 -13 207
Total tax expense / benefit for the year 138 535 29 148 -13 207

Specification of temporary differences
(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
Fixed assets 1 509 -129
Receivables 9 512
Pension liability -10 012 -4 636
Derivative not hedge accounting 28 233 0
Loss carried forward 0 -45 560
Total 19 739 -49 813

28% deferred tax assets (-) / liabilities (+) 5 527 -13 948

The difference beetween changes in deferred tax assets/liabilities in the balance sheet and the income statement is related to tax on equity transactions.
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J EQUITY

Capital Share
Share not Own premium Contributed Other

(NOK in thousand) capital registered shares reserve capital capital Total
Equity at December 31, 2005 304 319 0 -225 453 248 283 056 104 943 1 145 341
Converted debt to shares 116 853 0 0 1 066 938 0 0 1 183 791
Share issue - Initial Public
Offering (gross proceeds) 73 000 13 129 0 6 841 492 0 0 6 927 621
Costs for share issue 0 0 0 -149 950 0 0 -149 950
Tax on costs for share issue 0 0 0 41 986 0 0 41 986
Acquiring of own shares 0 0 225 0 0 2 648 2 873
Actuarial losses on defined
pension scheme 0 0 0 0 0 -4 327 -4 327
Deferred taxes on actuarial losses 0 0 0 0 0 1 212 1 212
Other changes (net of tax) 0 0 0 0 0 -157 -157
Profit for the year 0 0 0 0 0 356 433 356 433
Equity at December 31, 2006 494 172 13 129 0 8 253 714 283 056 460 752 9 504 823

Share capital at December 31, 2006 consist of 494,171,882 shares at par value NOK 1. On the Annual General Meeting on April
20, 2006, the shares in REC ASA were split 1:20 (with effect from April 21). There is one class of shares which all have the same
voting rights. See note 15 to the consolidated financial statement for more information.

REC ASA’s distributable equity at December 31, after allocations amounted to

(NOK in thousand) 2006 2005
Contributed capital 283 056 283 056
Other equity 460 752 104 943
Deferred tax assets 0 -13 948
Distributable equity 743 808 374 051

K DERIVATIVES

In the second quarter of 2006, REC ASA entered into currency contracts for the purchase of USD 200 million to hedge a portion
of the future investment in the new polysilicon plant in Moses Lake, WA, USA. Hedge accounting has not been applied to this
hedge. See note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

L RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Research and development costs in REC ASA were NOK 14,103 thousand in 2006 (2005: NOK 3,394 thousand, 2004: NOK 0).
All costs were expensed. REC ASA’s corporate technology department conducts and coordinates research and development with-
in the REC Group, primarily related to next generation technologies and enhancement of existing technologies. It is expected that
research and development costs will create future profitability.
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ADDRESSES

REC ASA
Veritasveien 14
PO Box 280
NO-1323 Høvik
Norway
Tel: +47 67 81 52 50
Fax: +47 67 81 52 01

REC ScanCell AS
Teknologiveien 4
PO Box 73
NO-8501 Narvik
Norway
Tel: +47 76 96 45 00
Fax: +47 76 96 45 01

REC ScanModule AB
Hillringsberg S-670 20
Glava
Sweden
Tel: +46 570 75 22 00
Fax: +46 570 75 22 01

REC Silicon Inc.
3322 Road “N” N.E.
Moses Lake
WA 98837
USA
Tel: +1 509 765 2106
Fax: +1 509 766 9325

REC Solar Grade Silicon LLC
3322 Road “N” N.E.
Moses Lake
WA 98837
USA
Tel: +1 509 765 2106
Fax: +1 509 766 9325

REC Advanced SiliconMaterials LLC
119140 Rick Jones Way
Silver Bow, Montana 59750
USA
Tel : +1 406 496 9898
Fax: +1 406 496 9801

REC ScanWafer AS
Veritasveien 14
PO Box 280
NO-1323 Høvik
Norway
Tel: +47 67 81 53 70
Fax: +47 67 81 53 77

REC ScanWafer AS
Herøya plant
Tormod Gjestlandsveg 31
NO-3908 Porsgrunn
Norway
Tel: +47 35 51 69 00
Fax: +47 35 51 69 01

REC ScanWafer AS
Glomfjord plant
Ørnesveien 3
NO-8160 Glomfjord
Norway
Tel: +47 75 71 90 00
Fax: +47 75 71 90 13

REC SiTech AS
Ørnesveien 3
NO-8160 Glomfjord
Norway
Tel: +47 75 71 90 90
Fax: +47 75 71 90 80

Solar Vision (PTY) LTD.
Goud Street 58
Laboria 0704
Polokwane
South Africa
Tel: +27 15 293 2248
Fax: +27 15 293 2249



ORGANIZATIONCHART

REC ASA

REC Silicon AS 100%

REC Silicon Inc.
100%

REC ScanCell AS
100%

REC ScanModule AB
100%

Solar Vision (PTY) Ltd.
100%

REC Solar Grade
Silicon LLC

100%

REC Advanced
SiliconMaterials LLC

100%*

REC SiTech AS 100% REC Solar AS 100% CSG Solar AG
21.7%

EverQ GmbH
33.3%REC ScanWafer AS 100%

*) Komatsu America Corporate holds B units representing 25 percent of the ownership, these units carry no voting rights neither rights to dividend payments.
REC ASA has an option to buy these units at a pre-agreed price.



Renewable Energy Corporation ASA
Veritasveien 14
Postboks 280
No-1323 Høvik
Norway
Tel: +47 67 81 52 50
Fax: +47 67 81 52 01

www.recgroup.com
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